
COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 1 

 
 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Thursday, June 8, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 
W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre Street, Orangeville 
The meeting will be live streamed on YouTube at the following link: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCx9vXkywflJr0LUVkKnYWQ 
   

 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Verbal roll call by the Clerk. 
 

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
THAT the Agenda and any Addendum distributed for the June 8, 2023 meeting of 
Council, be approved. 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 
 
Members of Council are required to state any pecuniary interest in accordance with 
the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. 
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
THAT the minutes of the regular meeting of Council of May 11, 2023, be adopted. 
 

5. PROCLAMATIONS, DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
5.1. Presentation: Bill Hill Scholarship Recipients 

 
The Bill Hill Scholarships were awarded to: 
 

 Arts (Fine Arts & Liberal Arts): Brett Kuzyk 
 Black or Person of Colour: Alexis Quilatan 
 Business & Social Sciences: Madison Lacroix 
 Indigenous – First Nations: Grace Rowley 
 Science & Technology: Bethany Quinton 
 Skilled Trades & Training Programs: Jacob Hilliard 



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 2 

5.2. Proclamation: Seniors Month – June 2023 
 

5.3. Proclamation: World Elder Abuse Awareness Day – June 15, 2023 
 
Jennifer McCallum & Heidi Vanderhorst, TeleCheck, will be in attendance to 
accept the proclamation. 
 

5.4. Presentation: StrategyCorp 
 
StrategyCorp to present the draft Strategic Plan. 
 
THAT the Corporation of the County of Dufferin Corporate Strategic Plan for 
2023-2026 be adopted. 
 

5.5. Presentation: BDO Canada LLP 
 
Angela Nichol and Traci Smith, BDO Canada LLP, to present the County of 
Dufferin 2022 Financial Statements. 
 
THAT the 2022 Financial Statements as presented by BDO Canada LLP, be 
approved. 
 

6. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 
 
Members of the Public in attendance are able to ask a question. If you are unable to 
attend and would like to submit a question, please contact us at 
info@dufferincounty.ca or 519-941-2816 x2500 prior to 4:30 p.m. on June 7, 2023. 
 

7. PRESENTATION AND CONSIDERATIONS OF REPORTS 
 
7.1. Infrastructure & Environmental Services Minutes – May 25, 2023 

 
THAT the minutes of the Infrastructure and Environmental Services meeting 
held on May 25, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 
Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 
 
THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 
May 25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 
 



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 3 

INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 
County Forest By-Law Enforcement 
 
THAT the Report, County Forest By-Law Enforcement, dated May 25, 2023, 
from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 
Household Hazardous Waste Service Review & Future Options 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Household Hazardous Waste Service Review and Future Options, be 
received; 
 
AND THAT staff investigate the development of a Dufferin County Mobile 
Depot from the perspective of logistics, costs, funding, approvals, etc. and 
report back. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 
Nuisance Beaver Program Rates 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Nuisance Beaver Program Rates, be received; 
 
AND THAT Nuisance Beaver rates be adjusted to $100 per setup, $100 per 
beaver removed, plus the County’s mileage allowance. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #5 
Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 10 & Mono/Amaranth Townline 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 10 & Mono/Amaranth 
Townline, be received. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #6 
Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 12 & 20 Sideroad Amaranth 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 12 & 20 Sideroad Amaranth, be 
received; 
 
AND THAT staff proceed with installing a temporary four-way stop control 
system for the intersection of Dufferin Road 12 and 20 Sideroad Amaranth; 



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 4 

AND THAT staff follow the guidance of the Ontario Traffic Manual to 
transition the intersection to a two-way stop control for 20 Sideroad with 
Dufferin Road 12 becoming the through road. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #7 
Wightman Telecom Fibre Installation within County Lands 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Wightman Telecom Fibre Installation within County Lands, be 
received; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to further negotiate mutually beneficial terms 
between the County of Dufferin and Wightman Telecom to support their use 
of the County owned Rail Trail lands for installation of fibre infrastructure; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to develop the necessary agreements and/or 
easements to permit installation of Wightman infrastructure within the 
County owned former rail corridor lands; 
 
AND THAT staff be directed to negotiate, develop, and enter the necessary 
service level and maintenance agreements between the County of Dufferin 
and Wightman Telecom to facilitate a long-term service structure for the 
County. 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #8 
Town of Orangeville Transit Terminal Agreement 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 
25, 2023, Town of Orangeville Transit Terminal Agreement, be received; 
 
AND THAT the Warden and Clerk be authorized to sign the Town of 
Orangeville Transit Terminal Memorandum of Understanding in substantially 
the same form as presented. 
 

7.2. General Government Services Minutes – May 25, 2023 
 
THAT the minutes of the General Government Services meeting held on May 
25, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

  



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 5 

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 
Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 
 
THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 
May 25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 
 
GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 
Facilities Requirements and Options Review – Update 
 
THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated May 25, 2023, 
regarding Facilities Requirements and Options Review – Update, be received; 
 
AND THAT a council workshop be scheduled to review County facilities and 
property inventory and assess options for current and future use of spaces. 
 
GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 
Township of Amaranth 
 
THAT the resolution from the Township of Amaranth, dated May 15, 2023, 
regarding school bus stop arm cameras, be supported. 
 

7.3. Health and Human Services Minutes – May 25, 2023 
 
THAT the minutes of the Health and Human Services meeting held on May 
25, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 
 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 
Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 
 
THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 
25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 
 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 
Dufferin County Paramedic Service Annual Report 
 
THAT the report of the Chief, dated May 25, 2023, with regards to the Dufferin 
County Paramedic Services, be received. 

  



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 6 

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 
Quarterly Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter 2023 
 
THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Quarterly 
Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter, 2023, dated May 25, 2023, 
be received. 
 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 
Dufferin County Equity Collaborative 2022 Report to the Community 
 
THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Dufferin County 
Equity Collaborative 2022 Report to the Community, dated May 25, 2023, be 
received. 
 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #5 
Dufferin County Community Support Services Declaration of Compliance 
 
THAT the report of the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks, dated May 25, 2023, 
regarding the Declaration of Compliance be received; 
 
AND THAT Council authorizes the Warden to sign the Declaration on behalf of 
Council for submission to Ontario Health Central Region. 
 
HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #6 
Long Term Care (LTC) Funding Update 
 
THAT the report of the Administrator, dated May 25, 2023, regarding 2023 
Funding Update, be received. 
 

.4. Community Development & Tourism Minutes – May 25, 2023 
 
THAT the minutes of the Community Development and Tourism meeting 
held on May 25, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 
Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 
 
THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 
25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 

 

7

 



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 7 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 
Building Code Enforcement Manual 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Building Code 
Enforcement Manual”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 
Museum Visitor and Outreach Statistics Report 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Museum Visitor 
and Outreach Statistics Report”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 
 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 
OPA Phase III – Policy Framework, Engagement Plan 
 
THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Phase III OPA 
– Policy Framework, Engagement Plan”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 
 

8. CORRESPONDENCE 
 
8.1. Township of Melancthon 

 
A resolution from the Township of Melancthon, dated May 23, 2023, 
regarding County fire prevention and protection services. 
 

9. NOTICE OF MOTIONS 
 
10. MOTIONS 

 
10.1. Access Dufferin Accessibility Advisory Committee 

 
THAT Sean Johnson be appointed to be a member of the Access 
Dufferin Accessibility Advisory Committee. 
 

11. CLOSED SESSION 
 

12. BY-LAWS 
 
2023-30 A by-law to amend By-Law 2015-41, Fees and Charges for Services 

and Activities provided by the County of Dufferin. (Schedule “C” – 
Public Works) 



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 8 

Authorization: Infrastructure and Environmental Services – April 27, 
2023 
 

2023-31 A by-law to amend By-Law 2017-39, being a by-law to govern the 
lands known as the Dufferin County Forest and Rail Trail. (Amend 
Sections 3, 14, 20, 21, 25, & 27, Amend Schedule A, Remove Schedule 
B) 
Authorization: Infrastructure and Environmental Services – April 27, 
2023 
 

2023-32 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing an 
agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and 
Ontario Health. (Multi-Service Sector Accountability Agreement) 
Authorization: Council – June 8, 2023 
 

2023-33 A by-law to authorize the Warden and Clerk to execute an agreement 
between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and Georgian 
College of Applied Arts & Technology. (Lease Agreement – Edelbrock 
Centre) 
Authorization: Council – June 8, 2023 
 

2023-34 A by-law to authorize the Warden and Clerk to execute an agreement 
between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin and Georgian 
College of Applied Arts & Technology. (Lease Agreement – Mel Lloyd 
Centre) 
Authorization: Council – June 8, 2023 
 

THAT By-Law 2023-30 through to By-Law 2023-34, be read a first, second and third 
time and enacted. 
 

13. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
14. CONFIRMATORY BY-LAW 

 
2023-xx A by-law to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the Corporation 

of the County of Dufferin at its meeting held on June 8, 2023. 
 
THAT By-Law 2023-xx be read a first, second and third time and enacted. 
 

  



COUNCIL AGENDA – June 8, 2023 – Page 9 

15. ADJOURNMENT 
 
THAT the meeting adjourn. 



     

 

  

      

    

 

    

   

   

   

  

  

 

  

   

 

 

  

   

  

   

 

    

  

 

  

   

  

  

   

   

   

   

 

      

 

      

 

DUFFERIN COUNTY COUNCIL MINUTES 

Thursday, May 11, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre Street, Orangeville ON 

Council Members Present: Warden Wade Mills (Shelburne) 

Councillor John Creelman (Mono) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse (East Garafraxa) 

Councillor Chris Gerrits (Amaranth) 

Councillor Shane Hall (Shelburne) 

Councillor Earl Hawkins (Mulmur) 

Councillor Janet Horner (Mulmur) 

Councillor Gail Little (Amaranth) 

Councillor James McLean (Melancthon) 

Councillor Fred Nix (Mono) 

Councillor Lisa Post (Orangeville) 

Councillor Philip Rentsch (Grand Valley) 

Councillor Steve Soloman (Grand Valley) 

Councillor Todd Taylor (Orangeville) 

Councillor Darren White (Melancthon) 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Rebecca Whelan, Deputy Clerk 

Aimee Raves, Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer 

Scott Burns, Director of Public Works/County Engineer 

Cody Joudry, Director of Development & Tourism 

Rohan Thompson, Director of People & Equity 

Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services 

Brenda Wagner, Administrator of Dufferin Oaks 

Tom Reid, Chief Paramedic 

Steve Murphy, Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects 

Warden Mills called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

Warden Mills announced that the meeting is being live streamed and publicly broadcast. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 1 



     

        

 

        

      

    

    

      

    

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

       

 

  

 

   

 

       

    

 

 

   

 

    

    

 

  

      

       

    

 

   

    

        

  

The recording of this meeting will also be available on our website in the future. 

Upcoming committee meetings will be held in the Dufferin Room at 30 Centre St, 

Orangeville on Thursday, May 25, 2023 at the following times: 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee – 9:00 a.m. 

General Government Services Committee – 11:00 a.m. 

Health & Human Services Committee – 1:00 p.m. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee – 3:00 p.m. 

1. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Warden Mills shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

2. ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of the Councillors in attendance. 

3. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Little 

THAT the Agenda and any Addendum distributed for the May 11, 2023 

meeting of Council, be approved. 

-Carried-

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

Members of Council are required to state any pecuniary interest in accordance 

with the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. 

Councillor Darren White and Councillor Lisa Post declared a conflict of interest 

regarding agenda Item #7.2 General Government Services Minutes, Item #1 – 
2023 Community Grant Recommendations as they are involved with the 1849 

Lorne Scots Army Cadet Corps. 

Councillor Gail Little declared a conflict of interest regarding agenda Item #7.2 

General Government Services Minutes, Item #1 – 2023 Community Grant 

Recommendations as she is involved with the Dufferin Farm Tour. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 2 



     

   

 

 

 

       

     

     

 

 

  

 

   

 

       

 

 

   

        

    

 

  

 

       

 

         

      

 

     

 

      

      

      

    

       

   

 

 

  

 

      

 

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council of March 7, 2023, 

Statutory Planning meeting of April 13, 2023, and the regular meeting of 

Council of April 13, 2023, be adopted. 

-Carried-

PROCLAMATIONS, DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 

6. Proclamation: Sexual Violence Prevention Month 

Warden Mills declared May 2023 as Sexual Violence Prevention Month in the 

County of Dufferin. 

Lynnette Pole-Langdon, Family Transition Place, accepted the proclamation. She 

noted Family Transition Place is working to support survivors, decrease the 

stigma and ensure support services are available. 

7. Proclamation: Pride Month 

Warden Mills declared May 2023 as Pride Month in the County of Dufferin. 

Dufferin County will raise the Pride flag on June 1, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. at 55 Zina 

Street, Orangeville and at 1:00 p.m. at the Museum of Dufferin. 

8. Delegation: Dufferin Federation of Agriculture 

Dr. Wayne Caldwell, Mark Reusser and Leo Blydrop delegated on behalf of the 

Dufferin Federation of Agriculture in regard to Bill 97 – Helping Homebuyers, 

Protecting Tenants Act, 2023. There is great concern regarding the long term 

consequences of the proposed Provincial Policy Statement, including severances 

on prime agricultural land. They encourage the County to advocate strongly 

against the proposed policy statement and educate residents regarding the 

proposed changes. 

9. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions received from the public. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 3 



     

  

 

     

 

 

 

    

   

 

 

        

      

 

        

      

 

        

  

 

         

     

 

        

    

 

     

      

 

         

     

 

        

      

  

 

     

      

   

  

PRESENTATION AND CONSIDERATIONS OF REPORTS 

10. Infrastructure & Environmental Services Minutes – April 27, 2023 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Soloman 

THAT the minutes of the Infrastructure and Environmental Services meeting 

held on April 27, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

-Carried-

11. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #1 

County Forest and Rail Trail – By-Law Amendments 

THAT the Report, County Forest and Rail Trail – By-Law Amendments, dated April 

27, 2023, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to update the applicable by-law in accordance with 

the outlined amendments; 

AND THAT staff be directed to forward the updated schedule of set fines to the 

Ministry of the Attorney General for approval. 

12. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Electric Vehicle Charging Station – Revised User Fees 

THAT Report, Electric Vehicle Charging Station – Revised User Fees, dated April 

27, 2023, from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received; 

AND THAT the Fees By-law 2015-41 be amended to include the revised Electric 

Vehicle Charging Station fee structure described in this report. 

13. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #3 

OP Trust Lands Development – Dufferin Road 109/2nd Line Amaranth Temporary 

Intersection Improvements 

THAT the Report, OP Trust Lands Development – Dufferin Road 109/2nd Line 

Amaranth Temporary Intersection Improvements, dated April 27, 2023, from the 

Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received; 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 4 



     

     

        

     

      

 

   

      

  

 

       

      

 

       

        

        

 

 

  

 

      

      

 

 

     

     

    

  

      

     

   

     

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

     

      

    

AND THAT staff be directed to proceed with the necessary agreement(s) and/or 

processes to secure funds from the developer to cover the full costs of 

construction and contract administration for the temporary intersection 

improvement work for Dufferin Road 109/2nd Line Amaranth; 

AND THAT staff be directed to proceed with incorporating the temporary 

intersection work for Dufferin Road 109/2nd Line Amaranth within the Capital 

Work Plan. 

14. Director of Community Services & Director of Development & Tourism’s 

Report – Bill 97 – Helping Homebuyers, Protecting Tenants Act, 2023 

A report from the Director of Development and Tourism, dated May 11, 2023, to 

provide an overview of the proposed changes to the Provincial Planning 

Statements 2023 and associated amendments to the Planning Act as part of Bill 

97. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Proposed 

Provincial Policy Statement 2023 Concerns and Input”, dated May 11, 2023, 

be received; 

AND THAT the Warden be authorized to sign the attached letter to the 

Environmental Registry of Ontario (ERO) by June 5, 2023 with a copy 

circulated to the Premier, all MPPs, Dufferin’s MP, the Minister of 

Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, the Minister of Environment, 

Conservation and Parks, the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), 

the Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM), the Western Ontario 

Wardens Caucus (WOWC), the Eastern Ontario Wardens Caucus (EOWC), the 

Ontario Federation of Agriculture and the Dufferin Federation of 

Agriculture. 

-Carried-

15. General Government Services Minutes – April 27, 2023 

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Soloman 

THAT the minutes of the General Government Services meeting held on 

April 27, 2023, and the recommendations set out, excluding Item #1 – 2023 

Community Grant Recommendations, be adopted. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 5 



     

 

       

 

 

     

    

 

       

    

 

        

    

 

       

  

 

         

    

 

       

  

 

      

    

 

       

      

 

      

        

  

 

      

     

 

       

      

 

      

 

 

16. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #2 

2022 Investment Activity 

THAT the report on 2022 Investment Activity, from the Manager of Corporate 

Finance, Treasurer, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

17. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Annual Report on Long Term Debt Capacity 

THAT the report on Annual Report on Long Term Debt Capacity, from the 

Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

18. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Tax Policy Review 

THAT the report on Tax Policy Review, from the Manager of Corporate Finance, 

Treasurer, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

19. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #5 

Annual Development Charges Report 

THAT the report on Annual Development Charges Report, from the Manager of 

Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

20. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #6 

Winter Storm After-Action Report – December 23-26, 2023 

THAT the report of the Manager – Preparedness, 911 & Corporate Projects, dated 

April 27, 2023, regarding After Action Report for Winter Storm - December 23-26, 

2022, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to investigate technology options to improve 

notification to staff and stakeholders of an event; 

AND THAT staff collaborate with the local municipalities to establish shelter 

locations with the necessary equipment and supplies; 

AND THAT staff support local municipalities to establish and train Volunteer 

Shelter Management Teams; 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 6 



     

         

      

 

        

  

 

      

   

 

  

 

        

 

     

 

 

      

  

 

      

  

 

         

     

 

    

 

  

 

 

    

   

     

    

   

   

  

   

     

     

       

AND THAT the costs of equipping each municipality to set up and equip an 

emergency shelter location be drawn from the Emergency Readiness reserve. 

21. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #7 

BDO Canada LLP 

THAT the correspondence from BDO Canada LLP, dated March 13, 2023, 

regarding audit planning, be received. 

22. Moved by Councillor Taylor, seconded by Councillor Nix 

THAT Item #1 – 2023 Community Grant Recommendations, excluding the 

grant allocations for the 1849 Lorne Scots Army Cadet Corps and the 

Dufferin County Farm Tour, be approved. 

-Carried-

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #1 

2023 Community Grant Recommendations 

THAT $25,000 be transferred from Rate Stabilization reserves for the 2023 

Community Grants. 

THAT the report from Headwaters Communities In Action, dated April 27, 2023, 

regarding the Community Grant Allocation recommendations, be received; 

AND THAT the following allocations be approved: 

COMMUNITY GRANTS >$3,000 

Applicant Amount 

Recommended 

Big Brothers, Big Sisters of Dufferin & District $6,000 

Caledon/Dufferin Victim Services $5,425 

Caledon Meals on Wheels $5,000 

Dufferin County Canadian Black Association $3,500 

Dufferin County Multicultural Foundation $5,000 

Dufferin Parent Support Network $12,000 

Fiddlehead Care Farm $6,500 

Headwaters Arts $4,250 

Highlands Youth for Christ $0 

Orangeville & District Horticultural Society $2,800 

Orangeville & District Seniors Citizens Centre $6,200 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 7 



     

 

 

   

   

   

    

  

 

  

 

 

   

   

   

 

 

    

     

   

  

    

     

   

   

    

    

  

    

   

  

  

 

   

 

  

 

         

    

 

 

   

Applicant Amount 

Recommended 

Rotary Club of Shelburne $4,000 

Shelburne Cricket Club $7,500 

Theatre Orangeville $7,000 

Westside Secondary School $5,000 

TOTAL $80,175 

COMMUNITY GRANTS ≤$3,000 
Applicant Amount 

Recommended 

Achill Choral Society $3,000 

Bethell Hospice $2,325 

Career Education Council Guelph Wellington 

Dufferin 

$3,000 

Dufferin Community Foundation $3,000 

Dufferin Hi-Land Bruce Trail Club $2,000 

Dufferin Muslim Centre $3,000 

Everdale $3,000 

Grand Valley Public Library $3,000 

Hockley Historic Community Hall & Church $2,000 

I Challenge Diabetes $1,500 

Lesson Up Inc. $0 

Orangeville Curling Club $850 

Orton Community Association $1,000 

PERIOD Ontario $0 

Primrose Elementary School $3,000 

Shelburne & District Horticultural Society $600 

Westminster United Church $2,000 

TOTAL $33,275 

Councillor White and Councillor Post left the meeting. 

23. Moved by Councillor Little, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT Item #1 – 2023 Community Grant Recommendations, the allocation 

for the 1849 Lorne Scots Army Cadet Corp for $4,550, be approved. 

-Carried-

Councillor White and Councillor Post rejoined the meeting. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 8 



     

   

 

  

 

         

      

 

 

  

 

     

 

 

 

       

   

 

 

      

   

 

       

     

 

      

      

 

         

       

 

      

    

 

         

      

 

      

      

 

          

     

Councillor Little left the meeting. 

24. Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT Item #1 – 2023 Community Grant Recommendations, the allocation 

for the Dufferin County Farm Tour for $2,000, be approved. 

-Carried-

Councillor Little rejoined the meeting. 

25. Health and Human Services Minutes – April 27, 2023 

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Councillor Soloman 

THAT the minutes of the Health and Human Services meeting held on April 

27, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

-Carried-

26. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Homelessness Prevention Program Update 

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Homelessness 

Prevention Program Update, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

27. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Early Years and Child Care - Knowing Our Numbers 

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Early Years and Child 

Care – Knowing Our Numbers, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

28. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Community Services Annual Review 2022 

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Community Services 

Annual Review 2022, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

29. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Senior Services and Housing Needs Review Update 

THAT the report of the Administrator, dated April 27, 2023, regarding the Seniors 

Services and Housing Needs Review Update, be received; 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 9 



     

         

 

 

       

 

      

 

 

 

     

   

 

 

      

 

 

           

           

     

 

       

    

 

         

     

 

      

 

       

     

 

      

      

 

       

   

 

     

    

 

  

AND THAT staff be directed to recruit a one year contract position to manage the 

project; 

AND THAT the Rate Stabilization Reserve be used as required to fund the position. 

30. Community Development & Tourism Minutes – April 27, 2023 

Moved by Councillor Little, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the minutes of the Community Development and Tourism meeting 

held on April 27, 2023, and the recommendations set out, be adopted. 

-Carried-

31. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Walter Kolodziechuk 

THAT the Committee supports the request to honour veterans at the Museum of 

Dufferin (MoD) by flying a flag for Remembrance Week, as well as a display 

highlighting the service of past and present local military members. 

32. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Land Use Planning Application Portal 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Land Use Planning 
Application Portal”, dated April 27, 2023, be received; 

AND THAT staff be directed to evaluate software options and report back. 

33. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #3 

County’s Role Regarding Residential Tenancy Matters 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “County’s Role 
regarding Residential Tenancy Matters”, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

34. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Museum Strategic Plan Implementation 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Museum Strategic 
Plan Implementation”, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 10 



     

       

 

 

     

   

 

    

 

         

       

 

  

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

       

    

  

 

 

 

      

   

    

 

 

    

 

       

      

  

  

35. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – April 27, 2023 – ITEM #5 

Economic Development Strategy Workshop 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Economic 
Development Strategy Workshop”, dated April 27, 2023, be received. 

36. Chief Administrative Officer’s Report – Monthly Report from Outside Boards 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated May 11, 2023, to provide 

Council with an update of activities from outside boards and agencies. 

Moved by Councillor White, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated May 11, 2023, 

with respect to Reports from Outside Boards, be received. 

-Carried-

CORRESPONDENCE 

37. Township of Amaranth 

A resolution from the Township of Amaranth, dated May 2, 2023, regarding a 

commitment to shared and combined services with Dufferin County and all 

municipalities within Dufferin. 

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Councillor Nix 

THAT the resolution from the Township of Amaranth, dated May 2, 2023, 

regarding a commitment to shared and combined services with Dufferin 

County and all municipalities within Dufferin, be received. 

-Carried-

38. Town of Orangeville 

Correspondence from the Town of Orangeville, dated May 5, 2023, to the 

Honourable Sylvia Jones, MPP, regarding support for Bill 74 Missing Persons 

Amendment Act, 2023. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 11 



     

 

 

      

        

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

          

      

   

 

    

 

  

 

      

 

 

   

 

      

    

        

     

    

 

     

          

     

      

 

  

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT Dufferin County Council supports the resolution from the Town of 

Orangeville, dated May 5, 2023, to support adoption of Bill 74 Missing 

Persons Amendment Act, 2023. 

-Carried-

39. NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

40. MOTIONS 

41. CLOSED SESSION 

42. BY-LAWS 

2023-28 A by-law to ratify the actions of the Warden and Clerk for executing 

an agreement between the Corporation of the County of Dufferin 

and Upper Grand District School Board. (Lease Agreement – 
Edelbrock Centre) 

Authorization: Council – May 11, 2023 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Soloman 

THAT By-Law 2023-28, be read a first, second and third time and enacted. 

-Carried-

43. OTHER BUSINESS 

Warden Mills congratulated Councillor Janet Horner as she was recently awarded 

the awarded the “Friend of the Greenbelt Award” from the Greenbelt Foundation. 

This Award recognizes those who actively champion the Greenbelt through their 

actions and community engagement. Councillor Horner was presented with her 

award in Mulmur on April 27th. 

Warden Mills encouraged Council members to remind the community that the 

Bill Hill Scholarship deadline is on May 15th. The application is available on the 

Dufferin County website and can be emailed to scholarship@dufferincounty.ca. 

Recipients will join us at the June Council meeting to receive their awards. 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 12 

mailto:scholarship@dufferincounty.ca


     

  

 

        

      

  

 

    

 

       

 

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

 

    

 

    

   

  

 

 

 

             

                  

44. CONFIRMATORY BY-LAW 

2023-29 A by-law to confirm the proceedings of the Council of the 

Corporation of the County of Dufferin at its meeting held on May 

11, 2023. 

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Councillor Gerrits 

THAT By-Law 2023-29, be read a first, second and third time and enacted. 

-Carried-

45. ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by Councillor Taylor, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the meeting adjourn. 

-Carried-

The meeting adjourned at 9:03 p.m. 

Next meeting: Thursday, June 8, 2023 

W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre Street, 

Orangeville ON 

Wade Mills, Warden Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

COUNCIL MINUTES – May 11, 2023– Page 13 



 Corporate Strategic Plan 
2023-2026 



 

 

Land Acknowledgement 

We respectfully acknowledge that Dufferin County resides within the traditional territory and 
ancestral lands of the Tionontati (Petun), Attawandaron (Neutral), Haudenosaunee (Six Nations), 
and Anishinaabe peoples. We also acknowledge that various municipalities within the County of 
Dufferin reside within the treaty lands named under the Haldimand Deed of 1784 and two of the 
Williams Treaties of 1818: Treaty 18: the Nottawasaga Purchase, and Treaty 19: The Ajetance Treaty. 
These traditional territories upon which we live and learn, are steeped in rich Indigenous history 
and traditions. It is with this statement that we declare to honour and respect the past and present 
connection of Indigenous peoples with this land, its waterways, and resources. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  2 



 

 

 

 

 

A Message from the Warden 

On behalf of my fellow County Councillors, I am pleased to present Dufferin County’s 2023-2026 
Corporate Strategic Plan. 

Our updated Strategic Plan presents a collective vision for the future of Dufferin County: A community 
that grows together. It also provides a roadmap that builds on our strengths and successes and will 
guide us as we plan for and make decisions and investments designed to help us realize this vision. 

The Plan outlines five priority areas, all of which are integral to our overall success as a County and a 
community: Climate & Environment, Community, Economy, Governance and Equity. 

We know that the challenges before us, and most other municipalities, are significant. That’s why our 
Strategic Plan takes a holistic perspective and highlights the interconnectedness of what we want to 
achieve – supporting the creation of more housing across the affordability spectrum, for example, is 
not only key to how we will manage our growth but also to ensuring a robust local economy and an 
inclusive, caring, and equitable community. 

This Plan also emphasizes the collective and collaborative effort required to deliver on these goals, by 
County Council: between the County, its local municipalities and across every County department. 

As part of this updated Strategic Plan, we are also – for the first time – adopting Climate and 
Equity Lenses that will be applied across the entire County administration. As we move forward in 
implementing the goals and initiatives within this Strategic Plan, we will embed equity and climate 
change considerations into our decision-making and how we deliver the services community members 
rely on every day. 

I want to thank my fellow members of County Council, County staff, residents, business owners and 
community partners for their participation in the creation of this Strategic Plan. 

It is our great privilege to serve the community of Dufferin County, and we invite you to join us on this 
journey over the coming years to transform our vision into reality. 

Wade Mills 
County of Dufferin’s Warden 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Message from the Chief Administrative 
Officer and Senior Management Team 

We are pleased to share the 2023-2026 Strategic Plan for Dufferin County. 

This plan was developed through collaboration with the community, Council, and staff. It reflects our 
shared vision, mission and values and outlines our key priority areas, goals, and initiatives for the next 
four years and beyond. 

Our strategic plan is organized around five key priority areas: Climate & Environment, Community, 
Economy, Governance and Equity. The goals and initiatives are interconnected and support multiple 
priorities, cutting across traditional areas of responsibility. This is an ambitious plan that aims to tackle 
some of the biggest challenges facing all communities and organizations: impacts of climate change, 
housing affordability, community safety, employee well-being, and racism and discrimination. 

The strategic plan guides our work; it forms the foundation of operational plans, the annual budget, 
recommendations to Council and day-to-day decision making. This plan is grounded in our values 
of collaboration, accountability, innovation, compassion, and courage. We are also using a 
Climate Lens and an Equity Lens to further guide our actions. As we move forward, we will create 
an implementation guide that will assign responsibilities, identify required resources, and establish a 
timeline for implementation of each goal. 

The strategic plan is a living document that will be monitored, evaluated, and updated regularly to 
ensure we are on track and responsive to changing needs and opportunities. We will report on our 
progress and performance to staff, County Council, and the public. Measuring our progress and 
celebrating milestones will be critical to long term success. 

We are proud of the work we have done to create this strategic plan, and we are excited about the 
future of our county. We invite you to join us as we work to be a community that grows together. 

Sonya Pritchard
Chief Administrative Officer 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  4 



 

 

 

 

 

Introduction to the Strategic Plan 

Dufferin County’s 2023-2026 Strategic Plan is our compass. 

Every municipality must make choices regarding what services to provide, what to build and where 
to invest. The Strategic Plan articulates the path forward, setting out our vision for the future of our 
community and framework to guide us as we decide where to prioritize and invest public resources. 

A focus on the future: This Strategic Plan was designed with a forward-looking focus to guide the 
organization as we plan, make decisions, and invest in the future of our community. It will help us 
seize new opportunities and tackle challenges, including those that may stretch beyond the horizon 
of a four-year term of Council. However, this plan is also a “living document” that will be periodically 
reviewed to ensure it remains relevant and aligned with the community’s and the administration’s 
priorities. 

An interconnected and integrated Plan: This Strategic Plan differs from previous plans as it is 
centred on the intersections among the County’s strategic priorities, as opposed to viewing them 
as distinct with their own discrete action plans, resources, and outcomes. Each strategic priority and 
goal represent a critical piece of the puzzle to achieving our shared vision, building on one another to 
create a cohesive and interconnected roadmap that has the potential to transform our community and 
all who live in it. 

A plan for everyone: The 2023-2026 Strategic Plan places a renewed focus on equity and inclusivity 
and sets out the County’s commitment to create a community where all can thrive, regardless of 
individual circumstances. It is also a testament to the internal work underway to ensure that the 
County is a fair, equitable and inclusive employer that enables and empowers employees to succeed. 

Putting strategy into action: The Strategic Plan is grounded in the County’s vision, mission and 
values and will guide Council and staff in the day-to-day work of realizing progress on the priorities set 
out in this document. This will be done by linking the Strategic Plan to the County’s annual business 
planning and budget processes. Further, building into the plan a system of performance measurement 
means that it can be an anchor for accountability and transparency to the community we serve. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  5 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

Moving Forward Together: A Plan for Dufferin County 

For 2023-2026, we present a refreshed Strategic Plan that includes the following key elements: 

∞ A new vision that reflects our aspirations for the administration and the community of 
Dufferin. 

∞ An updated mission that articulates our purpose and how we will achieve our vision. 

∞ A set of core values and lenses that will guide everything we do, from making policy 
decisions, delivering services, making investments, and engaging with community members. 

∞ Five strategic priority areas key to our future success and the goals that cut across each 
of these priority areas that will deliver positive outcomes in line with our vision, mission and 
values. 

∞ Specific initiatives for this four-year planning cycle that will support implementation and help 
us deliver on our goals. 

∞ Measures for each goal that we will track and measure to understand if we are making 
progress against what we set out to do. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  6 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

The Strategic Planning Process 

The journey to update Dufferin County’s Corporate Strategic Plan included an in-depth analysis of 
the County’s internal and external environment and input from numerous stakeholders, including the 
Warden and County Council, staff, and community members. 

Over a six-month period, we have heard from over 450 stakeholders who shared their input and 
perspectives as part of this process. Our engagement process involved the following key activities: 

∞ Twenty-two (22) interviews with the Warden, Council Members, and Senior Management 
Team 

∞ Two (2) workshops with County Council 

∞ One (1) workshop with local municipal Councils 

∞ Three (3) workshops with the Senior Management Team and Managers 

∞ Three (3) sessions with staff 

∞ Digital staff survey (87 responses) 

∞ Two (2) focus groups with community partners and service providers 

∞ Digital community survey (415 responses) 

∞ Four (4) community engagement sessions 

This extensive and comprehensive consultation process informed the creation of the Strategic Plan 
and ensures that it is grounded in the needs, aspirations, and priorities of Dufferin community and key 
stakeholders. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  7 



 
 

 

What We Heard 

Growth is on the horizon for Dufferin. In recent years, 
the community has grown as more individuals and families 
seek to take advantage of the quality of life available 
in the County. The COVID-19 pandemic signaled an 
important shift as a growing number of people departed 
the Greater Toronto Area (GTA) for Dufferin in search of 
more affordable living and more green space. Looking 
ahead, Dufferin will continue to grow, and it is essential 
that the County proactively plan for this growth so that 
the infrastructure and services required to support it are in 
place. 

Dufferin County’s natural environment is its strongest 
asset and critical to its identity. A mix of small urban 
centres and rural agricultural communities, the forests, 
rivers and streams, and vast farmland are key reasons 
people choose to live, work or visit the County. As Dufferin 
grows, it will need to find the appropriate balance between 
enabling and embracing this growth and preserving and 
protecting Dufferin’s unique natural landscape and urban/ 
rural mix. This Strategic Plan is reflective of this balance. 

Like most other places, the availability and 
affordability of housing is a major concern across the 
board – for Council, the County administration, local 
municipalities, and community members. There is real 
concern that although Dufferin may be more affordable 
than the GTA, housing is becoming less accessible and 
affordable for many community members. Moving 
forward, the County will need to work with its eight area 
municipalities to explore process, policy and partnership 
opportunities to increase housing supply, accessibility 
and affordability. There is no single solution that can 
address the reality of today’s housing crisis. As a result, 
collaboration is required among all levels of government 
to ensure that everyone in Dufferin in need of a home has 
one. 

Creating a community where everyone can live and 
thrive. The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated – but did 
not create – the social challenges that are impacting the 
community fabric of Dufferin and many other communities 
across Canada. These include poverty, homelessness, 
food insecurity, and mental health and substance use 
challenges. As a one of the smallest – but no less mighty 
– social service managers in Ontario, the County works 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  8 



 

 

 

directly with service providers and partner agencies to help ensure people have the supports they 
require, but the need far outstrips available resources. As with the housing file, supporting our most 
vulnerable community members will require ongoing and sustained collaboration with the County’s 
community partners, such as DC MOVES, and advocacy with the provincial and federal governments.  

Diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility is a key priority. Dufferin’s community is becoming 
more diverse and demographics are shifting as more newcomers, younger families and people from 
equity deserving groups are calling Dufferin home. Individuals from all walks of life recognize the 
high quality of life Dufferin has to offer, and in turn, our community fabric and culture are further 
enriched. Looking ahead, it is critical that the County continue to be a welcoming and hospitable place 
for all people, regardless of gender, sex, age, ethnicity, ability, and income level. To do so, it will need 
to ensure its services and delivery models evolve with the community and embody the principles of 
equity, inclusivity and accessibility. It is also critical that, as an organization, we build on the findings 
and recommendations of the County’s recent Equity Audit and foster a fair, equitable, and inclusive 
work environment for all employees. 

Growth of the economy must occur in step with population growth. The County has strong 
agricultural and manufacturing sectors, celebrated small businesses, and desirable tourist attractions 
that enable the success and strength of the local economy. In the current uncertain economic climate, 
it is important that the County help foster an “open for business” environment to support continued 
economic prosperity. The County can play a role in economic development through supporting key 
enablers, such as local workforce development, housing supply and affordability, and access to critical 
and emerging technologies, all of which can help draw new businesses to Dufferin and support the 
expansion and continued success of existing businesses. 

Investing in asset renewal and enhancement must continue to be top-of-mind. Dufferin County 
has made important strides in how it manages and invests in its assets and core infrastructure, which 
is a significant accomplishment given that the County stretches across nearly 1,500 square kilometres 
and is made up of both urban and rural communities. However, like most other municipalities, Dufferin 
has a sizeable state-of-good-repair backlog and will, as it grows, see increased demands and pressure 
on its assets and infrastructure. As a result, the County must continue to invest in and make progress 
against its Asset Management Plan, while also proactively planning for what infrastructure will be 
required to support future community needs. 

Significant efforts are underway to take action on climate change. In the past several years, the 
County declared a Climate Emergency, committed to net-zero by 2050, and adopted several guiding 
documents including the County’s first Dufferin Climate Action Plan and Together for Change: 
Dufferin’s Climate Adaptation Strategy. Advancing climate mitigation and adaptation efforts in the 
corporation and in the wider community continues to be an important priority, as the County looks to 
support long-term resiliency for residents, businesses and the organization itself. 

The County administration is on the right track. The County is committed to a culture of continuous 
improvement and continues to explore opportunities to drive innovation and transformation to 
improve service delivery, support enhanced coordination among the area municipalities, and achieve 
meaningful outcomes and benefits in the community. As Dufferin grows and evolves, the County 
administration will need to ensure it has the internal capacity to meet shifting community needs. The 
County has a strong, dedicated staff team, and continuing to engage and empower our people is key 
to serving the best interests of individuals, families and organizations that make up our community. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  9 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/news/dufferin-county-releases-findings-equity-audit-0
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/finance/2022%20AMP.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/DCAP-2021-FINAL-accessible (1).pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/Accessible-Dufferin Climate Adaptation Strategy.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/Accessible-Dufferin Climate Adaptation Strategy.pdf


  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights from the Community Survey 

The County conducted a digital survey to gather data and input on key priorities 
and issues from the community’s perspective. 

“Beautiful”, “Friendly” & “Community” 
Most popular attributes used to describe Dufferin County. 

64% 

87% 

90% 

86% 

of participants said that access to the natural 
environment, parks, trails and green spaces is 
what they like most about living in, working in 
or visiting the County.  

of participants want to see the County 
keep taxes affordable and focus on 
value-for-money in service delivery. 

of participants see protecting Dufferin’s 
natural environment as a key priority 
for the County. 

of participants want the County to continue 
to support local economic growth 
and job creation. 

community members participated 

400+ 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  10 



 

 
  

 
 

  

 
   

 

 

 
 

    

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Strategic Plan At A Glance 

Vision 
A community that grows together. 

Mission 
Providing programs and services that foster a thriving, equitable 

and resilient community in an ever-changing world. 

Values 
CourageCollaboration Accountability Innovation Compassion 

EQ
U

IT
Y

CL
IM

A
TE

 

1. Establish the County as a leader in climate action. 
2. Enhance and conserve Dufferin’s natural environment. 

1. Increase affordable and attainable housing options. 
2. Support community well-being and safety through collaboration and partnerships. 
3. Explore opportunities to improve access to healthcare services. 

1. Advance County-wide economic development workforce development. 
2. Improve broadband and cellular connectivity. 

1. Identify opportunities to improve governance and service delivery. 
2. Improve the County’s internal and external communication. 

1. Align programs, services and infrastructure with changing community needs. 
2. Ensure the County is an inclusive, equitable, and supportive Employer of Choice. 

Climate & 
Environment 

Community 

Economy 

Governance 

Equity 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  11 



 

 

Vision and Mission 

visioN 

The vision is the shared aspiration for the future of Dufferin County. 

A community that grows together. 

MISSION 

The mission statement articulates Dufferin County’s core purpose and how 
it will work to achieve its future vision. 

Providing programs and services that foster a 
thriving, equitable and resilient community in 
an ever-changing world. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  12 



 

 

 

Our Values and Lenses 

The actions, conduct and decisions of County Council and the administration are guided by a core set 
of values that speak to who we are and how we work together to serve our community and achieve 
our collective vision. 

Collaboration 
We actively engage and partner across departments and with community members, stakeholders, and 
other organizations to collectively address our challenges and achieve our shared goals. 

Accountability 
We are transparent and take responsibility and ownership for our actions and decisions. 

Innovation 
We embrace a culture of continuous improvement and creativity, seeking innovative solutions for an 
ever-changing community. 

Compassion 
We act with kindness and demonstrate empathy and understanding in serving our community. 

Courage 
We lead with conviction and act in the best interest of the County and our community. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  13 



 

 

 

Our Lenses: Equity and Climate 

As part of the 2023-2026 Strategic Plan, the County is introducing two lenses – Equity and Climate – 
that will be integrated into our day-to-day operations, policy design, and decision-making processes. 
These lenses will help us understand and evaluate the impacts of new or changing County policies, 
programs and services, ensuring that we are making decisions with social and environmental 
considerations foregrounded and in alignment with our long-term objectives. 

The Equity Lens serves to help analyze or diagnose the impact of the design and implementation 
of policies and programs on under-served individuals and groups that experience marginalization, 
and to identify and potentially eliminate systemic barriers. The purpose of an equity lens is to be 
deliberately inclusive as an organization. It helps decision makers focus on equity in both their 
processes and outcomes. It is important to note we use an equity lens to address systemic and 
structural barriers to groups that experience marginalization and not due to any unfounded or false 
beliefs that marginalized groups are deficient in any way. 

The Climate Lens serves to help identify, analyze and evaluate potential climate and/or 
environmental impacts of policies, services and programs. Through use of the lens, we will be better 
positioned to make informed recommendations and decisions that consider possible impacts to 
the climate (such as greenhouse gas production) or impacts resulting from the climate (such as 
increased flood risk). It also aligns with our ongoing actions to address climate change impacts 
through mitigation and adaptation initiatives. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  14 



  

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

  

 

 

  

 
 

 
 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

Priority Area:
Climate & Environment 

Our natural environment is our greatest asset. We are committed to taking action on climate change, 
starting from within the administration and reducing our corporate contributions to greenhouse 
gas emissions. Our Dufferin Climate Action Plan and Together for Change: Dufferin’s Climate 
Adaptation Strategy provide a roadmap to empower our community members to participate and 
embrace climate solutions so that we can advance a more sustainable and resilient community. 
Ensuring the long-term vibrancy of Dufferin’s natural environment – our trees, forests, waterways – and 
embracing new opportunities in a changing climate requires collective effort. We, as the County, are 
the stewards of this effort. 

OUR GOALS 

1. Establish the County as a leader in climate action 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Implement action Items outlined in the Dufferin Climate Action Plan and Together for 

Change: Dufferin’s Climate Adaptation Strategy that are focused on several priorities, 
including the following: 
o Creation of a Green Development Standards to ensure new development is environmentally, 

socially, and economically sustainable 
o Development of programs for home retrofits for reducing energy use and building resilience 

o Support the transition to low-greenhouse gas transportation systems, including electrification 
and active transportation 

o Creation and support for programs that increase climate resilience in agricultural and natural 
systems 

o Institutionalization of climate action in municipal programs policies and budgets 

o Provide education to empower the community to participate in climate solutions 

Measured by: 
∞ % reductions in GHG community emissions 
∞ % reductions in GHG corporate emissions 
∞ $ spent on adaptation projects or programs 

2. We will enhance and conserve Dufferin’s natural environment 

How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Update the Long-Term Waste Management Strategy, including an audit to identify improvement 

areas 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  15 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/DCAP-2021-FINAL-accessible (1).pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/Accessible-Dufferin Climate Adaptation Strategy.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/Accessible-Dufferin Climate Adaptation Strategy.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/climate-change/DCAP-2021-FINAL-accessible (1).pdf
Together for Change: Dufferin’s Climate Adaptation Strategy
Together for Change: Dufferin’s Climate Adaptation Strategy


 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

  

  

  

∞ Increase collaboration with community groups, NGOs, businesses and other orders of 
government to develop and implement conservation initiatives and programs 

∞ Encourage community awareness and participation in programs implemented by the 
Conservation Authority, Province of Ontario, and County of Dufferin (e.g. Rural Water Quality, 
Experimental Acres and tree planting programs) to support protection and enhancement of our 
natural environment 

∞ Improve active transportation options and County trail infrastructure 

Measured by: 
∞ % waste diversion rate 

∞ Participation rate in conservation and land stewardship programs 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  16 



 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Priority Area:
Community 

Dufferin County is a vibrant, caring, and welcoming community, built on a shared sense of purpose 
and a collaborative spirit. We also know that there is work ahead to address key social challenges and 
ensure that our most vulnerable community members have the supports they need when they need 
them. As a County, we will continue to collaborate with our local community partners and service 
providers who know our community best and drive the outcomes we seek: a community where 
everyone can thrive. 

OUR GOALS 

1.Increase affordable and attainable housing options 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Develop County-wide Housing Strategy to address the following: 

o Streamline planning policy and processes 

o Increase supply for owners and renters 

o Improve options to ensure appropriate housing that is adequate, accessible and affordable 

o Address the need for supports for vulnerable populations 

Measured by: 
∞ Average affordability indicators for ownership and rental housing in the County and by 

municipality 

2. Support community well-being and safety through collaboration and 
partnerships 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Advance implementation of the County’s Community Safety and Well-Being Plan (2021-

2024) in collaboration with local municipalities 

∞ Work as part of DC MOVES (Dufferin County – Managing, Organizing, Validating, Engagement 
Strategies) to collaborate and integrate efforts to address local human services challenges 

∞ Offer more granting and funding opportunities to community partners and organizations to 
support capacity-building 

Measured by: 
∞ Community Safety and Well-Being Index 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  17 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/community-services/CSWBP.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/community-services/CSWBP.pdf


 
 

 

 

 

  

 
 

  

  

3. Explore opportunities to improve access to healthcare services 
How can we achieve this goal? 
• Explore initiatives to support physician recruitment 
• Advocate to improve access to mental health and addiction services and supports in the 

community 

• Advance the work of the County’s local Ontario Health Team (Hills of Headwaters Collaborative) 
Measured by: 
• # of physicians per capita 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  18 



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 
 

  

  

 
 

  

  

  

  

 

 
 

  

 

  

Priority Area:
Economy 

A growing economy contributes to a thriving community. With its strong agricultural foundation, 
expanding urban centres and strategic location near the Greater Toronto Area, Dufferin is well primed 
to support business expansion and growth, investment attraction, and high-quality jobs. The County 
can support this vision by focusing on the key enablers – the people, processes, and tools – for 
economic success. 

OUR GOALS 

1. Advance County-wide economic and workforce development 

How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Create a Workforce Development Strategy 

∞ Develop an Investment Attraction Strategy to address income insecurity and help advance higher 
paying jobs 

∞ Implement the Tourism Strategy & Action Plan 2021-2026 

∞ Build awareness of programs and supports for businesses in the community 

∞ Improve alignment/harmonization on economic development between all lower and upper-tier 
municipalities 

Measured by: 
∞ Community Safety and Well-Being Index 

∞ Workforce participation (%) 
∞ Job vacancy rate (%) 
∞ Unemployment rate (%) 

2. Improve broadband and cellular connectivity 

How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Advocate to provincial and federal governments for additional funding programs to support 

remaining underserviced areas 

∞ Continue to lobby Internet Service Providers (ISPs) for local investment in the County’s network 

∞ Develop a service gap map 
Measured by: 
∞ % increase in coverage map year-over-year 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  19 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/economic development/tourism/Final-Dufferin County-Tourism Strategy and Action Plan.pdf


 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

  

 
 

 

  

  

  

 

 
 

  

  

  

  

Priority Area:
Governance 

Public service is at the heart of Dufferin County. As the County continues to grow, we will maintain 
our focus on public service excellence through a program of continuous improvement. This means 
continuing to explore opportunities to ensure effective and efficient service delivery, advance 
organizational transformation and modernization, and promote enhanced engagement both within 
the administration and with the people we serve. 

OUR GOALS 

1. Identify opportunities to improve governance and service delivery 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Explore identified opportunities within the Service Delivery Review Report and continue to 

improve County’s governance structure 

∞ Continue to advance digital transformation initiatives 

∞ Review policies and procedures to enable implementation and application of Equity and Climate 
lens to all organizational initiatives and processes 

∞ Continue to implement the County’s Asset Management Plan to ensure the long-term viability 
of our assets 

∞ Develop a Corporate Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Framework 

Measured by: 
∞ % customer satisfaction (annual community survey) 
∞ State-of-Good-Repair backlog as % of total asset value (replacement value) 

2. Improve the County’s internal and external communications 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Create annual and timely strategic communications plans for corporate and departmental 

initiatives 

∞ Update and/or establish standardized communications procedures across the organization 

Measured by: 
∞ Increase in earned media 

∞ Increase in social media followers and social media post engagement 
∞ Increase employee views and responses to internal messaging 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  20 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/clerks/County of Dufferin - Part B Final Future State Recommendations Report vDec9 for Review.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/finance/2022%20AMP.pdf


 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  

  

 
 

  

  

 

  

 

 
 

  

  

  

  

  

Priority Area:
Equity 

Dufferin County is a community for everyone. As we grow and evolve, we will work to ensure that 
our programs, services, and resources are responsive to the needs of community and reduce barriers 
to access. As an administration, we will lead by example and are committed to fostering a workplace 
culture that embodies the values of inclusion, diversity, equity, and accessibility. 

OUR GOALS 

1. Align programs, services and infrastructure with changing community needs 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Implement the County’s Age-Friendly Strategic Action Plan and its four priorities relating to 

transportation; communication and information; housing; and community support and health 
services 

∞ Advocate for improved GO Transit services between the County and GTA 

∞ Seek opportunities to support/enhance immigration and newcomer services 

∞ Develop a Community Engagement Framework to guide future consultation and engagement 
opportunities 

Measured by: 
∞ Increase in services available for seniors to remain at home 

∞ % of services used by immigrants/newcomers 

2. Ensure that the County is an inclusive, equitable and supportive Employer of Choice 
How can we achieve this goal? 
∞ Support staff well-being, development and engagement 
∞ Implement recommendations from the County’s Equity Audit and develop and implement a 

County of Dufferin Equity Strategy to foster an equitable corporate culture 
∞ Increase feelings of trust, belonging and wellness at Dufferin County, specifically among Black 

people, LGTBQ+ people, Dufferin Oaks team members, and those with accessibility needs 

∞ Complete a total compensation review 

∞ Connect individual performance plans to team/department and corporate goals 

Measured by: 
∞ # of Equity Audit recommendations implemented 

∞ Turnover/vacancy rate (%) 
∞ % of employee satisfaction per Annual Employee Survey 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  21 

https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/dccss/Attachment%20Dufferin%20County%20Age-Friendly%20Needs%20Assessment%20and%20Strategic%20Action%20Plan.pdf
https://www.dufferincounty.ca/sites/default/files/Equity%20audit/ASSESS%20-%20DUFFERIN%20COUNTY%20-%20TEACHABLES%20-%20NOV%202022%20%5BSHARED%5D.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Path Forward 

This Strategic Plan sets out a vision for the future of Dufferin County and identifies the collective 
priorities of Council, staff, and the community. It will be our roadmap for the next four years as we 
look to contribute to positive and meaningful outcomes that make Dufferin a great place to live, do 
business and visit. 

At the same time, many of the goals in this Plan will stretch beyond the horizon of this Strategic Plan. 
Our commitment is to move the dial on these goals over this term of Council through the strategic 
initiatives we have identified. This document is also a “living document” and ensures that Dufferin 
County can address emerging opportunities and challenges and be responsive to the changing needs 
of the community. 

To put this Plan into action and remain accountable and transparent to the people we serve, we will: 

∞ Assign accountabilities and responsibilities: We will work as a team to understand our roles 
and responsibilities in delivering on the goals set out in the Plan, mindful that the integrated 
nature of this Strategic Plan requires collective effort by Council and staff in addition to all 
departments and service areas. 

∞ Build internal capacity: Staff will bring forward requests to Council for the necessary resources 
to advance the initiatives and goals in this Plan. 

∞ Monitor and report on our progress: Using the indicators in the Strategic Plan, we will measure 
and track progress against our goals and report to Council and the community on an annual 
basis. 

∞ Celebrate successes: We will communicate and share our achievements with our community 
members, partners, and stakeholders. 

We are excited to work with community members, partner organizations and agencies, businesses, and 
others to build on the work we have done and continue to chart a path to a sustainable, inclusive, and 
prosperous future in Dufferin County. 

DUFFERIN COUNTY Strategic plan |  22 



 
 

 
 

W. & M. Edelbrock Centre, 
30 Centre Street, 

Orangeville, ON L9W 2X1 

dufferincounty.ca 
© 2023 



 

  

   

   

COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

2022 FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

PRESENTATION 
Presented By: 

Traci Smith, CPA, CGA 

Angela Nichol, CPA, CA 



     
 

   
  
      

  
    

    
   

OUTLINE 

 Review of significant financial statement 
elements including: 
 Statement of financial position 

 Statement of operations 

 Statement of changes in net financial assets 

 Accumulated surplus note 

 Reserves and Reserve funds note 

 Highlights of the County’s performance 

 Final Letter to Council 
 Questions? 

2 



3 



4 



        
      

   
 

   
 
   

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 Statement of financial position is a snapshot of 
the municipality at a point in time. 

 It highlights the following: 
 Cash resources 

 Net financial asset position 

 Non-financial assets 

 Accumulated surplus or deficit 

5 



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

6 



       
   

       

   
      
 

 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

 Reports the revenues and expenses of the 
municipality for the year. 

 Total revenue less costs (expenses) gives annual 
surplus 

 It highlights the following 
 Actual vs. budget vs. prior year results 

 Annual surplus 

 Accumulated surplus 

7 



STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

8 



      
      

           
     

   
      

     

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Takes annual surplus from statement of 
operations and removes activity in non-financial 
assets to get change in net debt for the year that 
agrees to statement of financial position 

 It highlights the following: 
 Changes in capital assets for the year 

 Change in net debt/net financial assets 

9 



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 

10 



      
       

      
  

  
    
    

       
      

  

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS NOTE 

 Provides a breakdown of the accumulated 
surplus balance found on the Statement of 
Financial Position and Statement of Operations 
and Accumulated Surplus 

 Includes details of: 
 Amount invested in capital assets 

 General surplus (Accumulated Operating 
Surpluses/Deficits) 

 Capital assets to be financed in the future 

 Unfunded liabilities including long term liabilities 
and post-employment benefits 

11 



ACCUMULATED SURPLUS NOTE 

12 



        
 

      

  
  

       

BUDGET NOTE 

 Shows a reconciliation of PSAB budget to cash 
based budget 

 Removes significant items from Annual Surplus 
including: 
 Transfers to/from reserves 

 Amortization, Capital acquisition 

 Proceeds from new debt and debt principal payments 

13 



BUDGET NOTE 

14 



HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COUNTY’S 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 



   

   

  
 

45,000,000 

40,000,000 

35,000,000 

30,000,000 

25,000,000 

20,000,000 

15,000,000 

10,000,000 

Cash available for current 
use 

Net Financial Assets (Net 
Debt) 

Investments available for 
current use 

5,000,000 

0 
2003 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

16 

       
           

       
 

     

HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY PERFORMANCE – 
CASH AND NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 Cash and investments have stayed relatively consistent 
year over year with an increase year over year since 
2018 

 Steady improvement in net debt/financial asset balance 
each year 

Cash, Investments and Net Financial Assets 



HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY 

PERFORMANCE – RESERVE BALANCES 

 Steady increase
in discretionary
reserves over th
past few years 

 Obligatory 
reserve funds 
have remained 

 
 

  
    

 
  

  
 
  

    
   

  relatively 
consistent year 
over year with a 
small decline in 
2022. 

Reserves and Discretionary 

 Reserve Funds 
50,000,000 

40,000,000 

30,000,000 

20,000,000 

10,000,000 

0 

e 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

 
 

 

   
 

    

    

    

  

   

  

   

  
 

   

  

Other capital purposes 

Other current purposes 

Bank loan retirement 

Broadband 

Children's services 

WSIB 

Asset management 

Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph 
Public Health 
Winter control 

Insurance 

Obligatory Reserve Funds 

17 

   

   

   

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

12,000,000 

10,000,000 

8,000,000 

6,000,000 

4,000,000 

2,000,000 

0 

Building department 

Gas tax 

Development charges 



  
 

 
    

 
  

  
  

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

18

HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY 

PERFORMANCE – REVENUES 

 In 2022, 
2022 government 

10,457,413 
10% contributions 

Taxation now make up a 42,986,081 

Fees and user charges larger 
40% 

49,964,779 
Government percentage than 46% 
contributions 

Other income taxation 
3,966,512 

 Revenue sources 4% 

11,256,009 are relatively 
consistent 
between 20 
and 2022 

2018 

38,065,568 
41% 

4,475,748 

38,208,781 
42% 

12% 

Taxation 

Fees and user charges 

Government contributions 

Other income 

5% 

18 



 
   

  
  

   

 
 

 

 

 

   
 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

 

  
 

  

 
 

 

HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY PERFORMANCE – 
EXPENSES 

2022 
Protection Services 

General 2.37% 
government  Dufferin Oaks Transportation 11.00% 

Services 
Wellington- Dufferin Oaks 6.72% and social and Dufferin-Guelph 23.29% 

Public Health Environmental family services 7.31% Services 
7.68% 

are largest Health Services 
11.38% 

Social Housing 
9.98% Social and Family 

expense in both 
Planning and 

Services Development periods 17.78% 1.12% 

Recreation 
and 

Cultural 
Services 
1.37% Wellington- General 

Dufferin-Guelph 2018 Protection Services government 
2.17% Public Health 8.48% 

7.09% Transportation Dufferin Oaks 
Services 22.32% 

Planning and 6.36% Environmental Development 
Services 1.20% 
7.40% 

Social and 
Recreation and Family 

Cultural Services Services Health Services 
1.58% 21.81% 11.62% 

Social Housing 
9.97% 

19 



  

 

   

 

  

 

   

 Expenses  by  
object  a re 
relativel y 
consist ent 
between  2018 
and  202 2

20 

Salaries 
40% 

Interest 
1% Materials & supplies 

13% 

Contracted services 
23% 

Rents & financial expense 
0% 

External transfers 
23% 

2018 

Salaries 
41% 

Interest 
1% Materials & supplies 

15% 

Contracted services 
21% 

Rents & financial expense 
0% 

External transfers 
22% 

2022 

HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY 

PERFORMANCE – EXPENSES 

 



       
 
      

  
        

         
    

HIGHLIGHTS OF COUNTY’S PERFORMANCE 

– OVERALL COMMENTS 

 Operating surplus totaled over $2,200,000 in the 
current year 

 Invested $13.4 million in capital infrastructure 
during the year 

 Continue to maintain and grow reserves and reserve 
funds. Over $17.9 million in the asset management 
reserve for future capital projects 

21 



  

 
  
 

FINAL LETTER TO COUNCIL 

 Status of audit 

 Independence 

 Materiality 

 Audit Findings 
 Significant accounting estimates 

 Unadjusted differences 

22 



QUESTIONS? 

23 

















 
  
   
 

7 
 

Significant Estimates 
and Judgements Audit Findings 

Post-Employment 
Benefits 

The Municipality provides post-employment health and dental benefits to eligible retired 
employees. The benefits earned by employees are determined using management’s best 
estimate of expected benefit costs and are expensed as services are rendered. In order 
to help estimate the liability for post-employment benefits, the Municipality engaged 
the services of an actuary. 

Taxation 
estimate 

revenue In accordance with PS 3510, amounts have been estimated for taxable events that have 
occurred but have not yet been assessed. The estimate was based on trend analysis by 
year for supplemental taxation billings and write-offs for the last 3 years; examination of 
building permits issued in the last two years; and knowledge of potential reassessments. 

Liability for 
Contaminated 

 
 

Sites 
Management compiled a list of all properties owned by the Municipality or where the 
Municipality has accepted responsibility for the property and assessed whether each 
property was contaminated. Management is not aware of any contaminated sites 
therefore no liability is accrued. 

 































The Corporation of the
County of Dufferin
Financial Information
For the year ended December 31, 2022

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Financial Information
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Contents

The Corporation of the County of Dufferin

The Corporation of the County of Dufferin Trust Funds

DRAFT



The Corporation of the
County of Dufferin
Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Contents

The Corporation of the County of Dufferin

Independent Auditor's Report 3

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 5

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus 6

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 7

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 8

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 9

Notes to Financial Statements 13

Schedule of Deferred Revenue

F

31

2

DRA
T



Tel: 519 941 0681
Fax: 519 941 8272

www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
163 First Street
Orangeville, Ontario
L9W 3J8

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers
of County of Dufferin

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the County of Dufferin (the
municipality), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December
31, 2022 and the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus, consolidated
statement of changes in net financial assets and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the County of Dufferin as at December 31, 2022
and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated change in net financial assets, and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the municipality in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Municipality's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the municipality or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the municipality's financial
reporting process.

3

DRAFT

www.bdo.ca


Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the municipality’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the municipality’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the municipality to cease to continue as a going
concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the municipality to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Orangeville, Ontario
June 8, 2023

4

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31 2022 2021

Financial assets
Cash and temporary investments (Note 1) $28,249,770 $ 30,756,144
Trade and other receivable 5,850,627 5,670,822
Portfolio investments (Note 2) 40,090,178 33,752,482

74,190,575 70,179,448

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13,062,417 12,091,662
Post-employment benefits (Note 4) 1,741,639 1,708,234
Deferred revenue (Page 31) 10,324,579 11,901,897
Long-term liabilities (Note 5) 10,922,840 11,890,452

36,051,475 37,592,245

Net financial assets 38,139,100 32,587,203

Non financial assets
Inventory of supplies 182,000 214,000
Prepaid expenses 248,287 458,774
Tangible capital assets (Note 3) 154,515,217 151,187,954

154,945,504 151,860,728

Accumulated surplus (Note 7) $193,084,604 $184,447,931

5

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended December 31 2022 2022 2021

Budget Actual Actual
(Note 10)

Revenue
Taxation $ 42,773,659 $42,986,081 $ 41,436,938
Fees and user charges 4,115,120 3,966,512 3,971,594
Government contributions (Note 12) 44,810,720 49,964,780 44,543,963
Other income (Note 9) 8,859,355 10,457,413 11,534,104

100,558,854 107,374,786 101,486,599

Expenses
General government 11,806,200 10,665,337 7,731,412
Protection services 1,648,230 2,109,782 1,655,260
Transportation services 11,718,565 11,980,530 9,980,992
Environmental services 6,900,640 6,812,244 6,398,258
Health services 18,079,641 17,247,035 18,133,981
Social and family services 37,383,536 37,660,364 32,167,055
Social Housing 10,254,952 9,941,488 10,462,276
Recreation and cultural services 1,423,425 1,323,749 1,261,600
Planning and development 1,325,359 997,584 1,188,863

100,540,548 98,738,113 88,979,697

Opening surplus adjustment (Note 18) - - 55,994

Annual surplus (Note 10) 18,306 8,636,673 12,562,896

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 184,447,931 184,447,931 171,885,035

Accumulated surplus, end of year $184,466,237 $193,084,604 $184,447,931

6

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets

For the year ended December 31 2022 2022 2021

Budget Actual Actual
(Note 10)

Annual surplus (Page 6) $ 18,306 $ 8,636,673 $ 12,562,896

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (17,168,146) (13,459,223) (13,859,162)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,400,000 10,129,010 9,475,562
(Gain) loss on sale of tangible capital assets - (70,706) (68,391)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 73,656 177,575

(7,768,146) (3,327,263) (4,274,416)

Change in prepaid expenses - 210,487 (11,522)
Change in inventory of supplies - 32,000 16,747

- 242,487 5,225

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (7,749,840) 5,551,897 8,293,705

Net financial assets, beginning of the year 32,587,203 32,587,203 24,293,498

Net financial assets, end of the year $ 24,837,363 $38,139,100 $ 32,587,203

7

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31 2022 2021

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Annual surplus $ 8,636,673 $ 12,562,896
Items not involving cash

Change in post-employment benefits 33,405 17,585
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10,129,010 9,475,562
Deferred revenue recognized (6,358,264) (3,659,951)
(Gain) loss on sale of tangible capital assets (70,706) (68,391)

12,370,118 18,327,701

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Trade and other receivable (179,805) (2,053,508)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 970,755 611,679
Deferred revenue received 4,780,946 5,113,692
Prepaid expenses 210,487 (11,522)
Inventory of supplies 32,000 16,747

5,814,383 3,677,088

18,184,501 22,004,789

Capital transactions
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (13,459,223) (13,859,162)
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 73,656 177,575

(13,385,567) (13,681,587)

Investing activities
Acquisition of investments (24,508,958) (21,944,595)
Sale of investments 18,171,262 9,581,393

(6,337,696) (12,363,202)

Financing activities
Repayment of long-term liabilities (967,612) (1,019,271)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,506,374) (5,059,271)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 30,756,144 35,815,415

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 28,249,770 $ 30,756,144

8

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

December 31, 2022

Management Responsibility The management of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin
has prepared and is responsible for the integrity, objectivity
and accuracy of the financial information presented in these
consolidated financial statements. The Council reviews and
approves the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of Accounting The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles as established by the Public Sector Accounting
Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada as
prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing. 

Revenues and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting recognizes
revenues as they become available and measurable; expenses
are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a
result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Basis of Consolidation The consolidated statements reflect the assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses of all municipal organizations,
committees, and boards which are owned or controlled by
Council. All interfund assets and liabilities and revenues and
expenses have been eliminated on consolidation.

The following entities and organizations are controlled by
Council and have been consolidated:

Dufferin Oaks Home for the Aged
Museum of Dufferin

A government partnership exists where the municipality has
shared control over the board or entity. The municipality's
pro-rata share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
are reflected in the financial statements using the
proportionate consolidation method. The municipality's
proportionate interest of the following government
partnerships are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements:

Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Unit 21.7% (2021
- 21.7%)

9

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

December 31, 2022

Revenue Recognition Revenues are recognized as follows:

a)  Assessments and the related property taxes are subject
to appeal. Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts
when they meet the definition of an asset, have been
authorized and the taxable event occurs. For property
taxes, the taxable event is the period for which the tax is
levied. Taxes receivable are recognized net of allowance
for anticipated uncollectable amounts.

As taxes recorded are initially based on management's
best estimate of the taxes that will be received, it is
possible that changes in future conditions, such as
reassessments due to audits, appeals and court decisions,
could result in a change in the amount of tax revenue
recognized.

b) Other revenues are recorded upon sale of goods or
provision of service when collection is reasonably
assured.

c) Investment income earned on surplus funds (other than
obligatory reserve funds) are reported as revenue in the
period earned. Investment income earned on obligatory
reserve funds is recorded directly to deferred revenue.

d) Revenue restricted by legislation, regulation or
agreement and not available for general municipal
purposes is reported as deferred revenue on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
revenue is reported on the consolidated statement of
operations in the year in which it is used for the specified
purpose.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into cash.

Portfolio Investments Portfolio investments are recorded at cost unless there has
been a decline in the market value which is other than
temporary in nature in which case the investments are written
down to market. Portfolio investments are comprised
primarily of guaranteed investment certificates, principal
protected notes and equity funds.

Inventory of Supplies Inventory of supplies held for consumption is recorded at the
lower of cost and replacement cost.

10

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

December 31, 2022

Tangible Capital Assets Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated
amortization. Costs include all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or
betterment of the asset. Amortization is provided over the
estimated useful life of the assets, using the straight-line
method. The useful life of the assets is based on estimates
made by Council. The following rates are used:

Buildings 10 - 50 years
Equipment 5 - 20 years
Roads 16 - 50 years
Bridges and Culverts 20 - 75 years
Vehicles 4.5 - 10 years
Other 5 - 30 years

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded
at fair value at the date of receipt and also are recorded as
revenue.

Intangible Assets Intangible assets, art and historic treasures, and items
inherited by right of the Crown, such as Crown lands, forests,
water, and mineral resources, are not recognized in these
financial statements.

Post-Employment Benefits The municipality provides benefits under the Workplace
Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) Act and health, dental and
life insurance benefits to eligible retired employees. The
benefits earned by employees are determined using
management's best estimate of expected benefit costs and
are expensed as services are rendered.  

The actuarial gain or loss is amortized over the expected
average remaining life expectancy of the members of the
employee group.

The contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employers
Retirement System ('OMERS"), a multi-employer defined
benefit plan are expensed when contributions are due.

Government Transfers Government transfers are recognized as revenue in the
financial statements when the transfer is authorized and any
eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that transfer
stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the
definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred
revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability.
Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations
as stipulation liabilities are settled.

11

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

December 31, 2022

Provincial Subsidies Subsidies from the Province of Ontario are subject to review
of year-end settlement forms and adjustments by the
Province. Adjustments to funding, if any, are recorded in the
year in which they occur.

Liability for Contaminated Sites A contaminated site is a site at which substances occur in
concentrations that exceed the maximum acceptable amounts
under an environmental standard. Sites that are currently in
productive use are only considered a contaminated site if an
unexpected event results in contamination. A liability for
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when the
organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up;
and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. The
liability includes all costs directly attribute to remediation
activities including post remediation operations, maintenance
and monitoring. The liability is recorded net of any expected
recoveries. Management is not aware of any contaminated
sites for which a liability needs to be recognized.

Trust Funds Funds held in trust by the municipality, and their related
operations, are not included in these financial statements.
The financial activity and position of the trust funds are
reported separately on the trust funds statement of continuity
and balance sheet.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are used
when accounting for items such as accrued grant receivables,
useful lives of tangible capital assets, accrued liabilities, and
post-employment benefits. By their nature, these estimates
are subject to measurement uncertainty and actual results
could differ from management's best estimates as additional
information becomes available in the future.

12

DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

1. Cash and Temporary Investments

2022 2021

Bank accounts $ 22,230,862 $ 24,755,857
One Investments - High Interest Savings Account 18,922 312
Scotiabank - High Interest Savings Account 5,999,986 5,999,975

$ 28,249,770 $ 30,756,144

Included in cash are externally restricted funds that are segregated and will be used only for
specific purposes totaling $3,756,767 (2021 - $5,572,001).

2. Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments include the following:
2022 2021

ONE Investment, Canadian equity portfolio $ 6,318,332 $ 6,194,097

ONE Investment, Canadian corporate bond portfolio 7,028,116 6,782,183

RBC investment savings account mutual fund - 20,000

Cash and Credit Union shares 1,140 1,152

Guaranteed Investment Certificates, 1.19% to 5.25%, 
due April 2023 to November 2026 21,392,790 15,635,050

Bank notes and step-up bonds, 1.5% to 1.85%, maturing
January 2023 to March 2026 3,225,000 3,225,000

Growth deposit and principal protected notes, due 
September 2024 to May 2030 2,124,800 1,895,000

$ 40,090,178 $ 33,752,482

The total investments of $40,090,178 (2021 - $33,752,482) reported on the statement of
financial position at cost have a market value of $39,101,258 (2021 - $34,297,929) at the
end of the year.

Included in portfolio investments are externally restricted funds that are segregated and will
be used only for specific purposes totaling $6,950,473 (2021 - $5,441,549).

13

DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

3. Tangible Capital Assets 

2022

Land Buildings Equipment Roads
Bridges and

Culverts   Vehicles Other
Assets under
Construction Total

Cost, beginning of
year

$ 10,366,130 $ 94,982,757 $ 13,452,860 $ 107,661,203 $ 32,770,758 $ 8,773,377 $ 7,149,898 $ 4,241,759 $ 279,398,742
Additions

2,346,064 807,319 85,879 - 428,492 456,126 9,335,343 13,459,223
Disposals

- (1,038,494) (250,370) - - (231,041) - - (1,519,905)
Transfers

- - - - - - - - -

Cost, end of year
10,366,130 96,290,327 14,009,809 107,747,082 32,770,758 8,970,828 7,606,024 13,577,102 291,338,060

Accumulated
amortization,
beginning of year

- 49,664,079 8,400,020 52,986,232 8,121,117 4,138,365 4,900,975 - 128,210,788
Amortization

- 2,972,121 898,491 4,734,283 521,387 767,043 235,685 - 10,129,010
Disposals

- (1,035,544) (250,370) - - (231,041) - - (1,516,955)

Accumulated
amortization, end
of year

- 51,600,656 9,048,141 57,720,515 8,642,504 4,674,367 5,136,660 - 136,822,843

Net carrying
amount, end of
year

$ 10,366,130 $ 44,689,671 $ 4,961,668 $ 50,026,567 $ 24,128,254 $ 4,296,461 $ 2,469,364 $ 13,577,102 $ 154,515,217

14DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

3. Tangible Capital Assets - (continued)

2021

Land Buildings Equipment Roads
Bridges and

Culverts Vehicles  Other
Assets under
Construction Total

Cost, beginning of
year

$ 10,363,065 $ 93,390,021 $ 11,874,722 $ 100,529,225 $ 30,557,432 $ 7,407,569 $ 7,055,931 $ 4,776,067 $ 265,954,032
Additions

3,065 670,075 1,596,416 7,126,332 461,052 1,128,770 93,967 2,779,485 13,859,162
Disposals

- (141,482) (18,278) - - (254,692) - - (414,452)
Transfers

- 1,064,143 - 5,646 1,752,274 491,730 - (3,313,793) -

Cost, end of year
10,366,130 94,982,757 13,452,860 107,661,203 32,770,758 8,773,377 7,149,898 4,241,759 279,398,742

Accumulated
amortization,
beginning of year

- 46,790,221 7,589,092 48,670,375 7,609,745 3,721,051 4,660,010 - 119,040,494
Amortization

- 2,924,018 825,550 4,315,857 511,372 657,800 240,965 - 9,475,562
Disposals

- (50,160) (14,622) - - (240,486) - - (305,268)

Accumulated
amortization, end
of year

- 49,664,079 8,400,020 52,986,232 8,121,117 4,138,365 4,900,975 - 128,210,788

Net carrying
amount, end of
year

$ 10,366,130 $ 45,318,678 $ 5,052,840 $ 54,674,971 $ 24,649,641 $ 4,635,012 $ 2,248,923 $ 4,241,759 $ 151,187,954

15DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

3. Tangible Capital Assets - (continued)

The net book value of tangible capital assets not being amortized because they are under
construction (or development) is $13,577,102 (2021 - $4,241,759).

The municipality holds various works of art and historical treasures including buildings,
artifacts, paintings and sculptures located at County sites and public displays. These
items are not recognized as tangible capital assets in the financial statements because a
reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with such property cannot be
made.

Included in other assets are land improvements, leasehold improvements and sewer
infrastructure.

4. Post-employment Benefit

The municipality provides certain benefits, including retirement benefits and other post-
employment benefits, to its employees. The post-employment benefit at December 31
includes the following components:

2022 2021

Retirement Benefits $ 960,575 $ 949,264
Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Obligations 453,006 425,314
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health Unit 328,058 333,656

$ 1,741,639 $ 1,708,234

The County has established a Workplace safety and insurance reserve fund in the amount of
$2,786,160 (2021 - $2,719,067) to mitigate the future impact of these obligations.

Actuarial valuations for accounting purposes are performed using the projected benefit
method, pro-rated on services. The most recent actuarial report was prepared as at
December 31, 2020.

The actuarial valuation was based on a number of assumptions about future events, such as
inflation rates, medical inflation rates, wage increases, employee turnover and mortality
rates.

Retirement Benefits

The County sponsors a defined benefit plan for retirement benefits other than pensions for
all non-union employees. The plan provides extended health and dental benefits to qualified
employees.

16

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

4. Post-employment Benefit  - continued

The assumptions used reflect management's best estimates. The post-employment benefit
liability was determined using a discount rate of 3.00% (2021 - 3.00%). For extended health
care costs, a 3.75% (2021 - 3.75%) annual rate of decrease was assumed for 2020, decreasing
to an ultimate rate of 3.75% per year up until 2030. For dental costs, a 3.75% annual rate
was assumed.

2022 2021

Current period benefit cost $ 40,330 $ 38,387
Amortization of actuarial gain/(loss) 8,289 8,289

Retirement benefit expense 48,619 46,676
Interest costs 29,785 29,756

Total expense for the year $ 78,404 $ 76,432

Total benefit payments paid by the County on behalf on retirees during the year were
$70,829 (2021 - $65,302).

WSIB

The County is a schedule 2 employer under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act and, as
such, assumes responsibility for financing its workplace safety insurance costs. The accrued
obligation represents the actuarial valuation of claims to be insured based on the history of
claims with County employees.

The assumptions used reflect management's best estimates. The post-employment benefit
liability was determined using a discount rate of 2.75% (2021 - 2.75%). For compensation
costs, which include loss of earnings benefits, health care cost and non-economic loss
awards, a 2.25% to 6.0% annual rate of increase was assumed for 2020, depending on the
benefit type.

2022 2021

Current period benefit cost $ 100,857 $ 97,959
Amortization of actuarial loss (14,826) (12,318)

Retirement benefit expense 86,031 85,641
Interest costs 17,588 16,455

Total expense for the year $ 103,619 $ 102,096

Total benefit payments paid by the County for WSIB during the year were $97,616 (2021 -
$56,561).

17

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

5. Long-Term Liabilities

The balance of long-term liabilities reported on the consolidated statement of financial
position is made up of the following:

2022 2021

Amortizing debenture, 2.37%, repayable in
semi-annual principal of $60,000 plus
interest payments, due July 2029 $ 840,003 $ 960,000

Amortizing debenture, 6.375%, repayable in
semi-annual variable principal plus interest
payments, due December 2022 - 4,000

Amortizing debenture, 4.46%, repayable in
blended semi-annual principal and interest
payments of $142,674, due January 2031  2,000,414 2,190,171

Amortizing debenture, 4.40%, repayable in
semi-annual principal of $162,500 plus
interest payments, due March 2033 3,412,506 3,737,500

Amortizing debenture, 3.10%, repayable in
blended semi-annual principal and interest
payments of $106,934, due June 2035 2,202,335 2,344,612

Bank loan, 4.10%, repayable in blended
monthly principal and interest payments of
$19,866, due October 2024 2,232,171 2,375,836

Capital lease, 3.10%, repayable in blended
semi-annual principal and interest payments
of $50,000, due January 2027 235,411 278,333

$ 10,922,840 $ 11,890,452

18

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

5. Long-Term Liabilities - (continued)

The gross interest paid relating to the above long-term liabilities was $403,250 (2021 -
$436,196).

Principal payments for the next 5 fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:

2023 $ 983,959
2024 2,931,693
2025 864,678
2026 880,779
2027 897,518
Thereafter 4,364,213

$ 10,922,840

                                                

6. Pension Agreements

The municipality makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Fund
(OMERS), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of 307 members of its staff. This plan is
a defined benefit plan which specifies the amount of the retirement to be received by the
employees based on the length of service and rates of pay. Employees and employers
contribute jointly to the plan. The employer amount contributed to OMERS for 2022 by the
County of Dufferin was $1,763,187 (2021 - $1,673,797).The contribution rate for 2022 was
9.0% to 15.8% depending on age and income level (2021 - 9.0% to 15.8%).

OMERS is a multi-employer plan, therefore any pension plan surpluses or deficits are a joint
responsibility of Ontario municipal organizations and their employees. As a result, the
municipality does not recognize any share of the OMERS pension surplus or deficit. The last
available report for the OMERS plan was December 31, 2022.  At that time the plan reported
a $6.68 billion actuarial deficit (2021 - $3.1 billion actuarial deficit), based on actuarial
liabilities of $128.79 billion (2021 - $119.3 billion) and actuarial assets of $122.11 billion
(2021 - $116.2 billion). Ongoing adequacy of the current contribution rates will need to be
monitored as declines in the financial markets may lead to increased future funding
requirements.  

19

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

7. Accumulated Surplus

Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserves as follows:

2022 2021

Invested in tangible capital assets
County's tangible capital assets at cost less amortization $150,160,730 $146,704,037
WDGPH's tangible capital assets at cost less amortization 4,354,487 4,483,917
Unexpended capital financing - 1,642,737
County's capital assets financed by long-term liabilities
and to be funded in future years (10,922,840) (11,890,452)

Total invested in capital assets 143,592,377 140,940,239

County's unfunded post-employment benefits (1,413,581) (1,374,578)
General surplus (Note 10) 2,211,543 2,180,531
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health - (16,638)

144,390,339 141,729,554

Reserves and reserve funds (Note 8) 48,694,265 42,718,377

Accumulated surplus $193,084,604 $184,447,931

20

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

8. Reserves and Reserve Funds Set Aside for Specific Purpose by Council

2022 2021

Reserves
Rate stabilization $ 8,042,625 $ 6,146,481
Contingencies 614,629 624,131
Insurance 237,436 237,436
Winter control 349,902 349,902
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health 827,658 565,864
Other current purposes 7,377,154 6,892,981
Asset management 17,986,384 14,393,887
Broadband 717,704 2,000,000
Other capital purposes 3,783,916 4,071,796

39,937,408 35,282,478

Reserve funds
WSIB 2,786,160 2,719,067
Children's services 994,962 278,464
Bank loan retirement 1,650,338 1,625,099
Other current purposes 2,836,381 2,209,841
Other capital purposes 489,016 603,428

8,756,857 7,435,899

Reserves and reserve funds 
set aside for specific purpose by Council $ 48,694,265 $ 42,718,377

9. Other Income
2022 2022 2021

Budget Actual Actual

Development charges and contributions $ 1,743,295 $ 1,344,251 $ 1,061,358
Investment income 544,815 1,261,116 1,860,830
Licenses, permits and rents 4,885,575 5,348,826 4,745,706
Donations 41,000 87,481 20,703
Recycling rebate 600,000 1,132,169 1,209,494
Sale of publications, equipment, etc. 127,500 140,408 130,382
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets - 70,706 68,391
Other contributions 917,170 1,072,456 2,437,240

$ 8,859,355 $ 10,457,413 $ 11,534,104

21

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

10. Budgets

Under Canadian public sector accounting standards, budget amounts are to be reported on
the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus and changes in net
financial assets for comparative purposes. Management prepares a reconciliation of the
budget approved by Council on a cash basis to the budget under Public Sector Accounting
Standards. The following is a reconciliation of the budget approved by Council. 

2022 2022 2021
Budget Actual Actual

Annual surplus (Page 6) $ 18,306 $ 8,636,673 $ 12,562,896

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,400,000 10,129,010 9,475,562
Change in unfunded liabilities - 39,003 35,928
Change in other surpluses - (16,638) (14,101)

9,418,306 18,788,048 22,060,285
Net transfers (to) from reserves 8,674,545 (3,794,636) (3,743,341)
Capital acquisitions, disposals
 and write-down (17,168,146) (13,456,273) (13,749,978)
Prior year capital projects (funded) 

expended - 1,642,737 (1,642,737)
Debt principal repayments (924,705) (967,612) (1,019,271)

- 2,212,264 1,904,958

Prior year general surplus - 2,180,531 2,396,672

Surplus before transfers to reserves - 4,392,795 4,301,630
Transfer prior year surplus to reserve

per resolution - (2,181,252) (2,121,099)

General surplus (Note 7) $ - $ 2,211,543 $ 2,180,531

22

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

11. Government Partnerships

The following summarizes the financial position and operations of the government
partnerships which have been reported in these financial statements using the proportionate
consolidation method:

Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health

Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health is a joint board under the shared control of the
Corporation of the County of Dufferin, the Corporation of the County of Wellington and the
Corporation of the City of Guelph.  The consolidated financial statements include the
municipality's 21.7% (2021 - 21.7%) proportionate interest of the following:

2022 2021

Financial assets $ 9,850,359 $ 8,017,479

Liabilities $ 8,235,262 $ 8,851,225

Net debt 1,615,097 (833,746)

Non-financial assets 20,124,144 20,699,931

Accumulated surplus $ 21,739,241 $ 19,866,185

Revenues $ 33,834,294 $ 40,075,746
Expenses 32,037,915 38,874,085

Annual surplus $ 1,796,379 $ 1,201,661

23

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

12. Government Contributions

Budget 2022 2021

Operating
Province of Ontario

Social and family services $ 25,946,295 $ 28,272,101 $ 23,154,464
Social housing 1,616,804 2,570,287 3,134,083
Other 10,324,034 10,445,580 12,203,365

37,887,133 41,287,968 38,491,912

Government of Canada
Social and family services $ 2,000 $ 2,625 $ 6,348
Social housing 1,184,881 1,451,836 1,624,976
Transportation - 2,625 3,590
Other - 112,668 97,035

1,186,881 1,569,754 1,731,949

Other Municipalities
Transportation $ 50,000 $ 57,462 $ 56,115
Other 1,726,171 1,727,644 1,702,866

1,776,171 1,785,106 1,758,981

Total operating government contributions 40,850,185 44,642,828 41,982,842

Tangible Capital Asset
Province of Ontario

Social and family services $ 32,082 $ - $ -
Transportation 911,292 1,336,634 -
Other 76,246 - -

1,019,620 1,336,634 -

Government of Canada
Federal Gas Tax 2,940,915 3,985,318 2,551,121
Other - - 10,000

2,940,915 3,985,318 2,561,121

Total tangible capital asset government 
contributions 3,960,535 5,321,952 2,561,121

Total government contributions $ 44,810,720 $ 49,964,780 $ 44,543,963

24

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

13. Social Housing Obligation 

As part of the Provincial Local Services Realignment Program, the Ontario Housing
Corporation (OHC) is still responsible for the servicing of the debentures used to finance the
public housing projects transferred to the County of Dufferin under authority of the Social
Housing Reform Act, 2000.

Information received from the OHC as at December 31, 2022 indicates the following.

2022

Principal payments $ 216,344
Interest payments 30,792

Total $ 247,136

Debentures outstanding at year end $ 279,604

The principal and interest repayments are recovered at source from Federal Social Housing
funding provided to the Province and the balance is flowed to or recovered from the
Consolidated Municipal Service Manager (County of Dufferin). The County of Dufferin is
showing the revenues from the Federal Social Housing funding at gross and recording a
transfer to the Province for the recovered amount.

14. Trust Funds

The trust funds administered by the municipality amounting to $1,233,680 (2021 -
$1,097,284) have not been included in the consolidated statement of financial position nor
have the operations been included in the consolidated statement of financial activities. At
December 31, 2022, the trust fund balances are as follows:

2022 2021

Entrance Permit Deposits Trust $ 54,189 $ 55,889
Dufferin Oaks and Residents' Trust 313,931 217,316
Other 8,614 8,525
Museum Trust 856,946 815,554

$ 1,233,680 $ 1,097,284

25

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

15. Commitments

i) The County has various operating contracts for services to be provided over multiple
years. The payments for the following two years are as follows:

2023 $ 7,453,534
2024 5,178,272

ii) The County has committed to spend approximately $656,316 on capital projects in
2023 and beyond on various roads projects.

16. Contingencies

The County has been served with various claims as a result of motor vehicle accidents and
other incidents. The County is not aware of any possible settlements in excess of its liability
insurance coverage. The outcomes of these claims are not determinable at this time. Should
any liability be determined and not covered by insurance, it will be recognized in the period
when determined.

26

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

17. Segmented Information

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. Amounts that are directly attributable to a number of
segments have been allocated on a reasonable basis as follows:

Taxation and payments-in-lieu 

Allocated to  those  segments  that are  funded by these amounts based on the budget for
the year.

The County of Dufferin is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide
range of services to its citizens. Distinguishable functional segments have been separately
disclosed in the segmented information. The nature of the segments and the activities they
encompass are as follows:

General Government

This item related to the revenues and expenses that relate to the governance and operations
of the municipality itself and cannot be directly attributed to a specific segment.

Protection Services

Protection is comprised of building and septic permits, property information and the 911
contract.  The building department provides a number of services including maintenance and
enforcement of building and construction codes and review of all property development
plans through its application process.

Transportation Services

Transportation is responsible for construction and maintenance of the municipality's
roadways, bridges, parking areas and streetlighting.  

Environmental Services

Environmental services consists of providing waste collection, disposal and recycling to its
citizens. Programs include the compost program, household hazardous waste and electronic
goods recycling. This segment also includes climate and energy programs.

Health Services

Health services include the land ambulance services.

Social and Family Services

Community services administrate and deliver community services for the County, including
the Ontario Works program, and various children's programs.

27

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

17. Segmented Information - continued

Social Housing

Housing services administrate and deliver housing services for the County, including
maintaining the centralized waiting list for subsidized housing, managing and operating the
County owned properties, administering the Rent Supplement Program, administering
homelessness prevention programs, and funding and administering the non-profit, and co-
operative housing programs in the County.

Recreational and Cultural Services

This service area provides services meant to improve the health and development of the
municipality's citizens. The municipality operates and maintains a museum. 

Planning and Development

This department is responsible for planning and zoning including the Official plan. This
service relates to the operations of the county forest and support of economic development
and planning activities.   

Wellington-Guelph-Dufferin Public Health

This segment is responsible for the operations of the Wellington-Guelph-Dufferin Public
Health (WGDPH). WGDPH provides programs and services that prevent disease, protect
health and promote the well-being of individuals.

Dufferin Oaks

This segment is responsible for the operations of Dufferin Oaks, which includes a long term
care facility located in Shelburne, Ontario, Dufferin County Community Support Services,
and McKelvie-Burnside Village.

28

DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31

General
Government

Protection
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
Services

Health
Services

Social and
Family

Services
Social

Housing

Recreation
and Cultural

Services
Planning and
Development

Wellington-
Dufferin-

Guelph
Public
Health

Dufferin
Oaks

2022
Total

Revenue
Taxation  $ 7,519,562 $ 31,500 $ 10,741,265 $ 5,547,040 $ 6,016,317 $ 2,113,590 $ 4,274,567 $ 1,279,575 $ 773,989 $ - $ 4,688,676 $ 42,986,081
Fees and user charges - 12,650 2,100 91,572 - 16,049 14,857 - - 3,829,284 3,966,512
Specific grants 318,850 95,881 5,412,190 7,875 4,789,559 14,528,945 4,022,124 153,948 2,167 6,887,459 13,745,781 49,964,779
Other revenue 2,214,361 1,907,645 643,336 1,746,412 234,068 8,645 2,729,698 114,000 187,942 28,353 642,953 10,457,413

10,052,773 2,047,676 16,798,891 7,392,899 11,039,944 16,651,180 11,042,438 1,562,380 964,098 6,915,812 22,906,694 107,374,785

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 5,256,079 1,071,262 2,857,293 775,632 - 2,572,085 1,495,792 764,831 600,322 5,416,928 15,846,775 36,656,999
Interest on debt 119,100 - - - 94,730 189,230 - - - 190 403,250
Materials and supplies 2,355,053 337,969 2,007,361 323,672 1,022,303 617,246 2,178,575 333,737 70,182 1,063,895 3,021,262 13,331,255
Contracted services 2,005,964 176,900 1,083,539 5,707,179 7,143,216 120,617 211,991 112,806 243,395 - 1,680,634 18,486,241
Other transfers - 44,883 - - 1,820,945 12,384,091 4,763,483 (8,000) 81,483 - - 19,086,885
Rents and financial
expenses 13,303 17,978 2,478 428 - 62,732 - 10,829 - - 88,360 196,108
Amortization 915,836 12,427 6,029,859 5,333 382,392 242,695 1,102,417 109,546 2,202 302,626 1,023,678 10,129,011
Transfers to obligatory
reserve - 448,363 - - - - - - - - 448,363

10,665,335 2,109,782 11,980,530 6,812,244 10,463,586 15,999,466 9,941,488 1,323,749 997,584 6,783,449 21,660,899 98,738,112

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (612,562) $ (62,106) $ 4,818,361 $ 580,655 $ 576,358 $ 651,714 $ 1,100,950 $ 238,631 $ (33,486) $ 132,363 $ 1,245,795 $ 8,636,673

29DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
 Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

For the year ended
December 31

General
Government

Protection
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
Services

Health
Services

Social and
Family

Services
Social

Housing

Recreation
and Cultural

Services
Planning and
Development

Wellington-
Dufferin-

Guelph
Public Health

Dufferin
Oaks

2021
Total

Revenue
Taxation  $ 6,273,892 $ 278,220 $ 10,995,095 $ 5,271,730 $ 6,285,050 $ 2,087,214 $ 4,157,855 $ 1,143,295 $ 765,120 $ - $ 4,179,467 $ 41,436,938
Fees and user charges - 15,495 4,550 110,313 - 15,577 12,424 13,200 - 3,800,035 3,971,594
Specific grants 677,338 90,738 2,610,824 4,341 4,609,338 10,763,147 4,759,060 179,386 176,481 8,275,646 12,397,664 44,543,963
Other revenue 2,460,606 1,310,502 1,773,411 1,944,447 219,691 193,980 2,716,809 128,312 180,007 2,919 603,420 11,534,104

9,411,836 1,694,955 15,383,880 7,330,831 11,114,079 13,044,341 11,649,301 1,463,417 1,134,808 8,278,565 20,980,586 101,486,599

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 3,984,596 1,000,371 2,442,543 664,672 - 2,931,118 1,297,310 799,980 494,550 6,435,086 14,023,014 34,073,240
Interest on debt 130,690 - - - 100,491 204,570 - - - 445 436,196
Materials and supplies 913,311 402,499 1,380,263 271,176 818,950 635,483 2,116,714 287,055 85,482 1,474,484 2,684,843 11,070,260
Contracted services 1,864,645 199,126 669,376 5,457,874 6,833,454 128,981 186,842 64,472 387,050 - 1,428,571 17,220,391
Other transfers - 24,207 - - 1,782,431 8,916,560 5,584,241 (950) 219,273 - - 16,525,762
Rents and financial
expenses 9,879 17,709 2,108 422 - 55,847 - 5,541 - - 86,780 178,286
Amortization 828,291 11,348 5,486,702 4,114 345,181 265,084 1,072,599 105,502 2,508 343,936 1,010,297 9,475,562

7,731,412 1,655,260 9,980,992 6,398,258 9,880,507 12,933,073 10,462,276 1,261,600 1,188,863 8,253,506 19,233,950 88,979,697

Restatement of opening
surplus - - - - - - - - 55,994 - 55,994

Annual surplus (deficit) $ 1,680,424 $ 39,695 $ 5,402,888 $ 932,573 $ 1,233,572 $ 111,268 $1,187,025 $ 201,817 $ (54,055) $ 81,053 $ 1,746,636 $ 12,562,896

30DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Schedule of Deferred Revenue

For the year ended December 31, 2022

Contributions Investment Revenue
Opening Received Income Recognized Ending

Obligatory Reserve Funds
Development charges $ 4,846,140 $ 1,881,900 $ 196,515 $(1,311,512)$ 5,613,043
Federal Gas Tax 2,362,990 1,957,935 73,984 (3,985,318) 409,591
Building department 3,489,486 448,363 183,145 (32,740) 4,088,254

10,698,616 4,288,198 453,644 (5,329,570) 10,110,888
Other

Long-term easement 
access 25,000 - - - 25,000

Other 1,178,281 39,104 - (1,028,694) 188,691

$11,901,897 $ 4,327,302 $ 453,644 $(6,358,264)$10,324,579

31

DRAFT



The Corporation of the
County of Dufferin
Trust Funds
Financial Information
For the year ended December 31, 2022

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Trust Funds
Financial Information
For the year ended December 31, 2022

Contents

The Corporation of the County of Dufferin Trust Funds

Independent Auditor's Report 2

Balance Sheet 4

Statement of Continuity 5

Notes to Financial Information 6

DRAFT



Tel: 519 941 0681
Fax: 519 941 8272

www.bdo.ca

BDO Canada LLP
163 First Street
Orangeville, Ontario
L9W 3J8

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers
of County of Dufferin

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial information of the Corporation of the County of
Dufferin Trust Funds, (the 'Trusts') which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2022,
and the statement of continuity for the year then ended, and notes to the financial information
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial information present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin Trust Funds as at December
31, 2022, and the continuity for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Information section of our report. We are independent of the trusts in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
information in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Information

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial information
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial information that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial information, management is responsible for assessing the Trusts' ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Trusts or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Trusts' financial reporting
process.

2

DRAFT

www.bdo.ca


Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial information as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
this financial information.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trusts'
internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the trusts’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Trust to
cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial information
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Orangeville, Ontario
June 8, 2023

3

DRAFT



The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Trust Funds

 Balance Sheet

December 31, 2022

Entrance
Permit

Deposits
Museum

Trust
Residents'

Trust
Dufferin

Oaks
OACCTA

Trust
Total
2022

Total
2021

Assets
Cash $ 54,189 $ 116,325 $ 79,060 $ 248,062 $ 8,614 $ 506,250 $ 1,012,033
Investments, at cost - 700,000 - - - 700,000 40,872
Interest receivable - 11,288 - - - 11,288 2,516
Due from the County - 29,333 - 2,149 - 31,482 43,250

54,189 856,946 79,060 250,211 8,614 1,249,020 1,098,671

Liabilities
Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities - - 617 14,723 - 15,340 1,387

Fund balance $ 54,189 $ 856,946 $ 78,443 $ 235,488 $ 8,614 $ 1,233,680 $ 1,097,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

4DRAFT



                     The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Trust Funds

Statement of Continuity

For the year ended December 31, 2022

Entrance
Permit

Deposits
Museum

Trust
Residents'

Trust
Dufferin

Oaks
OACCTA

Trust
Total
2022

Total
2021

Balance, beginning of year $ 55,889 $ 815,554 $ 80,445 $ 136,871 $ 8,525 $ 1,097,284 $ 1,031,358

Receipts
Interest earned - 19,392 - 2,017 89 21,498 8,030
Donations - - - 137,250 - 137,250 14,456
Other receipts 11,000 30,000 82,925 - - 123,925 155,907

11,000 49,392 82,925 139,267 89 282,673 178,393

Expenses 12,700 8,000 84,927 40,650 - 146,277 112,467

Balance, end of year $ 54,189 $ 856,946 $ 78,443 $ 235,488 $ 8,614 $ 1,233,680 $ 1,097,284

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

5DRAFT



 The Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Trust Funds

Notes to Financial Information

December 31, 2022

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Management Responsibility The management of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin
Trust Funds has prepared and is responsible for the integrity,
objectivity and accuracy of the financial information. The
Council reviews and approves the financial information.

Basis of Accounting The financial information have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards as
established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada as prescribed
by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing.

Revenue and expenses are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. The accrual basis of accounting recognizes
revenues as they become available and measurable; expenses
are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a
result of receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial information in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
information, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. By their nature, these
estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and actual
results could differ from management's best estimates as
additional information becomes available in the future.

Basis of Consolidation These trust funds have not been consolidated with the
financial statements of the municipality.

2. Investments

The total investments of $700,000 (2021 - $40,872) reported on the balance sheet at cost
have a market value of $700,000 (2021 - $48,361) at the end of the year.

6

DRAFT



      

 

 
 

 

 

   
 

       

  

 

     

  

 

    

 

 

  

 

 

     

  

   

    

    

  

   

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

    

INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

MINUTES 

Thursday, May 25, 2023 at 9:00 a.m. 

The Committee met at 9:00 a.m. at the W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 

Centre Street, Orangeville. 

Members Present: Councillor Chris Gerrits (Chair) 

Councillor Shane Hall 

Councillor Janet Horner 

Councillor James McLean (joined at 9:06 a.m.) 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Fred Nix 

Councillor Steve Soloman 

Councillor Todd Taylor 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Scott Burns, Director of Public Works/County Engineer 

Caroline Mach, County Forest Manager 

Melissa Kovacs-Reid, Waste Services Manager 

Scott Martin, Operations Manager 

Michelle Hargrave, Administrative Support Specialist 

Chair Gerrits called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair Gerrits shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of Councillors in attendance. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 1 



      

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

        

       

 

        

       

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

      

   

 

 

       

  

 

        

         

      

 

   

 

    

    

 

 

  

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

REPORTS 

1. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide a financial report up to April 30, 2023 for the following departments: 

• Public Works 

o Operations 

o Engineering 

• Climate and Energy 

• Facilities 

• Waste Services 

• County Forest 

Councillor McLean joined the meeting at 9:06 a.m. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 

May 25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 

-Carried-

2. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 

County Forest By-Law Enforcement 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to provide information on the current enforcement measurements in place for the 

forest and review the proposed the set fines. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor Taylor 

THAT the Report, County Forest By-Law Enforcement, dated May 25, 2023, 

from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, be received. 

-Carried-

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 2 



      

 

       

    

 

        

       

 

 

   

 

       

 

 

 

      

    

  

 

 

       

  

 

        

      

 

  

 

      

    

 

         

   

 

 

        

      

 

        

     

    

  

3. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Household Hazardous Waste Service Review & Future Options 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to provide results of a detailed review of the County’s Household Hazardous Waste 

program. 

Moved by Warden Mills, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Household Hazardous Waste Service Review and Future Options, be 

received; 

AND THAT staff investigate the development of a Dufferin County Mobile 

Depot from the perspective of logistics, costs, funding, approvals, etc. and 

report back. 

-Carried-

4. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Nuisance Beaver Program Rates 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to seek an adjustment to the existing nuisance beaver program rates. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Nuisance Beaver Program Rates, be received; 

AND THAT Nuisance Beaver rates be adjusted to $100 per setup, $100 per 

beaver removed, plus the County’s mileage allowance. 
-Carried-

5. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #5 

Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 10 & Mono/Amaranth Townline 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to detail appropriate measures that have and will be implemented to further 

enhance safety at the intersection. 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 3 



      

 

   

 

       

     

 

 

 

       

     

 

        

        

  

 

   

 

       

        

 

 

     

        

 

     

     

    

 

 

       

     

 

        

          

     

 

   

 

       

   

 

  

Moved by Warden Mills, seconded by Councillor Horner 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 10 & Mono/Amaranth 

Townline, be received. 

-Carried-

6. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #6 

Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 12 & 20 Sideroad Amaranth 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to detail past measures and recent technical review of the intersection, including a 

four-way stop warrant investigation. 

Moved by Councillor Soloman, seconded by Councillor Nix 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Intersection Review – Dufferin Road 12 & 20 Sideroad Amaranth, be 

received; 

AND THAT staff proceed with installing a temporary four-way stop control 

system for the intersection of Dufferin Road 12 and 20 Sideroad Amaranth; 

AND THAT staff follow the guidance of the Ontario Traffic Manual to 

transition the intersection to a two-way stop control for 20 Sideroad with 

Dufferin Road 12 becoming the through road. 

-Carried-

7. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #7 

Wightman Telecom Fibre Installation within County Lands 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to seek direction to formalize an agreement with Wightman Telecom for the 

installation of fibre lines on County owned property. 

Moved by Councillor Taylor, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Wightman Telecom Fibre Installation within County Lands, be 

received; 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 4 



      

 

    

     

       

 

    

     

   

 

    

      

 

 

 

 

       

   

 

        

        

   

 

   

 

       

   

 

      

    

  

 

 

 

 

       

     

 

    

         

     

  

AND THAT staff be directed to further negotiate mutually beneficial terms 

between the County of Dufferin and Wightman Telecom to support their use 

of the County owned Rail Trail lands for installation of fibre infrastructure; 

AND THAT staff be directed to develop the necessary agreements and/or 

easements to permit installation of Wightman infrastructure within the 

County owned former rail corridor lands; 

AND THAT staff be directed to negotiate, develop, and enter the necessary 

service level and maintenance agreements between the County of Dufferin 

and Wightman Telecom to facilitate a long-term service structure for the 

County. 

-Carried-

8. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #8 

Town of Orangeville Transit Terminal Agreement 

A report from the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 25, 2023, 

to outline the agreement between the Town of Orangeville and Dufferin County for 

the new transit terminal. 

Moved by Councillor Horner, seconded by Councillor McLean 

THAT the report of the Director of Public Works/County Engineer, dated May 

25, 2023, Town of Orangeville Transit Terminal Agreement, be received; 

AND THAT the Warden and Clerk be authorized to sign the Town of 

Orangeville Transit Terminal Memorandum of Understanding in substantially 

the same form as presented. 

-Carried-

CORRESPONDENCE 

9. INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #9 

Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) Conference Delegations 

Correspondence from the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), dated May 

11, 2023, to advise Municipal Delegation Requests for the 2023 AMO Conference 

must be submitted by June 9, 2023, was presented. 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 5 



      

 

       

    

    

 

 

 

   

 

    

   

  

 

  

 

   

   

  

Staff was directed to submit a delegation request with the Minister of Agriculture, 

Food and Rural Affairs, regarding concerns surrounding Bill 97 and any potential 

policies as a result of the Bill. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 9:41 a.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, June 22, 2023 

W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre Street, 

Orangeville ON 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Chris Gerrits, Chair 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee 

Infrastructure & Environmental Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 6 



        

 
 

  

     
 

      

  

 

     

  

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

     

  

 

 

   

   

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

    

 

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, May 25, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. 

The Committee met at 11:00 a.m. at the W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 

Centre Street, Orangeville. 

Members Present: Councillor John Creelman (Chair) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse 

Councillor Chris Gerrits 

Councillor Shane Hall 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Philip Rentsch 

Councillor Steve Soloman 

Councillor Todd Taylor 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Aimee Raves, Manager of Corporate Finance, 

Treasurer 

Rohan Thompson, Director of People & Equity 

Michelle Hargrave, Administrative Support Specialist 

Chair Creelman called the meeting to order at 11:00 a.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair Creelman shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of the Councillors in attendance. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 1 



        

 

 

     

 

 

 

       

       

 

        

       

  

    

  

   

  

  

  

     

  

   

 

 

 

      

   

 

 

       

      

 

          

      

 

  

 

     

   

  

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

REPORTS 

1. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide a financial report up to April 30, 2023 for the following departments: 

• Council 

• Office of the CAO 

• Corporate Services 

o Information Technology 

o Finance 

o Procurement 

• People & Equity 

o Human Resources & Learning & Organizational Development 

o Equity 

o Health & Safety 

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated 

May 25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 

-Carried-

2. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Facilities Requirements and Options Review – Update 

A report from the Chief Administrative Officer, dated May 25, 2023, to provide an 

update on the review of facilities, space requirements and future options. 

Moved by Warden Mills, seconded by Councillor Hall 

THAT the report of the Chief Administrative Officer, dated May 25, 2023, 

regarding Facilities Requirements and Options Review – Update, be received; 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 2 



        

     

      

 

 

 

 

      

 

 

     

    

 

 

 

    

      

 

 

      

     

 

    

         

     

 

 

 

    

 

     

   

  

 

  

 

   

  

  

AND THAT a council workshop be scheduled to review County facilities and 

property inventory and assess options for current and future use of spaces. 

-Carried-

CORRESPONDENCE 

3. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Township of Amaranth 

Correspondence from the Township of Amaranth, dated May 15, 2023, containing a 

resolution regarding school bus stop arm cameras. 

Moved by Councillor Gerrits, seconded by Councillor Gardhouse 

THAT the resolution from the Township of Amaranth, dated May 15, 2023, 

regarding school bus stop arm cameras, be supported. 

-Carried-

4. GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) Conference Delegations 

Correspondence from the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), dated May 

11, 2023, to advise Municipal Delegation Requests for the 2023 AMO Conference 

must be submitted by June 9, 2023, was presented. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 11:32 a.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, June 22, 2023 

W & M Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre Street, 

Orangeville ON 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor John Creelman, Chair 

General Government Services Committee 

General Government Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 3 



            

 
 

   

    

 

       

 

 

     

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

     

   

    

 

 

   

   

   

 

     

 

   

 

   

 

 

 

      

  

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, May 25, 2023 at 1:00 p.m. 

The Committee met at 1:00 p.m. at the W & M Edelbrock Centre, 30 Centre St, 

Orangeville. 

Members Present: Councillor Darren White (Chair) 

Councillor Guy Gardhouse 

Councillor Earl Hawkins 

Councillor Gail Little 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Fred Nix 

Councillor Lisa Post 

Councillor Philip Rentsch 

Members Absent: Councillor James McLean (prior notice) 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Brenda Wagner, Administrator, Dufferin Oaks 

Diane Whitten-Franks, Associate Administrator, Dufferin 

Oaks 

Anna McGregor, Director of Community Services 

Tom Reid, Chief Paramedic 

Michelle Hargrave, Administrative Support Specialist 

Chair White called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Chair White shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

ROLL CALL 

The Clerk verbally took a roll call of Councillors in attendance. 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 1 



            

 

 

    

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

      

       

 

        

       

   

     

   

  

   

    

   

    

  

   

  

   

 

 

 

      

    

 

 

      

   

 

           

        

 

 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

REPORTS 

1. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide a financial report up to April 30, 2023 for the following departments: 

• Community Services 

o Early Years & Child Care 

o Housing Services 

o Ontario Works 

• Dufferin Oaks 

o Dufferin Oaks Long Term care home 

o Community Support Services 

o McKevlie Burnside Village 

o Mel Lloyd Centre 

• Health Services 

• Paramedics 

• Public Health 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Little 

THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 

25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 

-Carried-

2. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Dufferin County Paramedic Service Annual Report 

A report from the Chief Paramedic, dated May 25, 2023, to provide members of the 

Health and Human Services Committee with an update for Dufferin County 

Paramedic Service. 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 2 



            

  

 

      

  

 

 

      

      

 

        

        

        

    

 

 

 

   

       

 

 

 

      

       

 

        

      

      

 

 

 

     

    

 

 

 

      

      

 

        

        

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Warden Mills 

THAT the report of the Chief, dated May 25, 2023, with regards to the Dufferin 

County Paramedic Services, be received. 

-Carried-

3. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Quarterly Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter 2023 

A report from the Director of Community Services, dated May 25, 2023, to provide 

Council with quarterly infographics that summarize the work undertaken by the 

Community Services Department, across the Housing Services, Ontario Works and 

Early Years and Child Care (EYCC) Divisions. 

Moved by Councillor Little, seconded by Councillor Nix 

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Quarterly 

Community Services Activity Report – First Quarter, 2023, dated May 25, 2023, 

be received. 

-Carried-

4. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 

Dufferin County Equity Collaborative 2022 Report to the Community 

A report from the Director of Community Services, dated May 25, 2023, to provide 

a highlight of key activities and accomplishments of Dufferin County Equity 

Collaborative (DCEC) members during the 2022 calendar year. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Little 

THAT the report of the Director, Community Services, titled Dufferin County 

Equity Collaborative 2022 Report to the Community, dated May 25, 2023, be 

received. 

-Carried-

5. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #5 

Dufferin County Community Support Services Declaration of Compliance 

A report from the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks, dated May 25, 2023, to approve 

the signing of the Declaration of Compliance as required by Multi Sector Service 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 3 



            

    

  

 

 

 

      

   

 

        

     

 

 

      

  

 

       

       

   

 

 

 

    

  

 

 

 

 

      

     

 

    

         

      

 

 

 

   

 

    

   

 

Accountability Agreement for services provided through Dufferin County 

Community Support Services. 

Moved by Councillor Hawkins, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT the report of the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks, dated May 25, 2023, 

regarding the Declaration of Compliance be received; 

AND THAT Council authorizes the Warden to sign the Declaration on behalf of 

Council for submission to Ontario Health Central Region. 

-Carried-

6. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #6 

Long Term Care (LTC) Funding Update 

A report and presentation from the Administrator of Dufferin Oaks, dated May 25, 

2023, to inform committee members of recent funding updates announced by the 

Ministry of Long Term Care. 

Moved by Councillor Nix, seconded by Councillor Hawkins 

THAT the report of the Administrator, dated May 25, 2023, regarding 2023 

Funding Update, be received. 

-Carried-

CORRESPONDENCE 

7. HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #7 

Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) Conference Delegations 

Correspondence from the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), dated May 

11, 2023, to advise Municipal Delegation Requests for the 2023 AMO Conference 

must be submitted by June 9, 2023, was presented. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 2:06 p.m. 

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, June 22, 2023 

W & M Edelbrock Centre, 30 Centre St, Orangeville 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 4 



            

  

 

 

   

  

    

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Darren White, Chair 

Health and Human Services Committee 

Health & Human Services Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 – Page 5 



       

 

 
 

  

    

 

       

 

 

     

   

 

  

 

 

  

 

      

   

 

 

    

  

    

   

 

   

 

   

 

  

 

 

 

    

  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Thursday, May 25, 2023 at 3:00 p.m. 

The Committee met at 3:00 p.m. at the Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre St, 

Orangeville. 

Members Present: Councillor Janet Horner (Chair) 

Councillor John Creelman (joined at 3:08 p.m.) 

Councillor Earl Hawkins 

Councillor Gail Little 

Warden Wade Mills 

Councillor Lisa Post 

Councillor Darren White 

Staff Present: Sonya Pritchard, Chief Administrative Officer 

Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

Cody Joudry, Director of Development and Tourism 

Becky MacNaughtan, Chief Building Official 

Sarah Robinson, Museum Services Manager (Interim) 

Silva Yousif, Senior Planner 

Yaw Ennin, Manager of Economic Development 

Michelle Hargrave, Administrative Support Specialist 

Chair Horner called the meeting to order at 3:01 p.m. 

LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

Warden Mills shared the Land Acknowledgement Statement. 

DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 

There were no declarations of pecuniary interest. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 1 



       

 

 

 

     

 

 

 

       

       

 

         

       

  

  

   

  

 

  

 

  

 

      

    

 

 

       

  

 

        

     

 

  

 

       

  

 

 

       

   

 

        

      

PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions from the public. 

REPORTS 

1. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #1 

Financial Report – January 1 – April 30, 2023 

A report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide a financial report up to April 30, 2023 for the following departments: 

• Building Services 

• Museum of Dufferin 

• Land Use Planning 

• Economic Development 

Councillor Creelman joined the meeting at 3:08 p.m. 

Moved by Councillor Post, seconded by Councillor Little 

THAT the report from the Manager of Corporate Finance, Treasurer, dated May 

25, 2023, regarding a financial report up to April 30, 2023, be received. 

-Carried-

2. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #2 

Building Code Enforcement Manual 

A report from the Director of Development and Tourism, dated May 25, 2023, to 

share the new Building Code Enforcement Manual. 

Moved by Warden Mills, seconded by Councillor White 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Building Code 

Enforcement Manual”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 
-Carried-

3. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #3 

Museum Visitor and Outreach Statistics Report 

A report from the Director of Development and Tourism, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide Museum visitor and outreach statistics for the first quarter of 2023. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 2 



       

 

 

 

      

 

 

 

       

      

 

       

       

      

 

  

 

       

    

 

 

 

 

       

     

 

    

         

      

 

        

        

     

 

  

 

     

        

    

 

 

 

    

Moved by Councillor Little, seconded by Councillor Post 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Museum Visitor 

and Outreach Statistics Report”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 
-Carried-

4. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #4 

OPA Phase III – Policy Framework, Engagement Plan 

A report from the Director of Development and Tourism, dated May 25, 2023, to 

provide an overview of the upcoming stakeholder engagement sessions related to 

Phase III OPA – Policy Framework. 

Moved by Warden Mills, seconded by Councillor Creelman 

THAT the report of the Director of Development and Tourism, “Phase III OPA 
– Policy Framework, Engagement Plan”, dated May 25, 2023, be received. 

-Carried-

CORRESPONDENCE 

5. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM – May 25, 2023 – ITEM #5 

Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO) Conference Delegations 

Correspondence from the Association of Municipalities of Ontario (AMO), dated May 

11, 2023, to advise Municipal Delegation Requests for the 2023 AMO Conference 

must be submitted by June 9, 2023, was presented. 

Staff was directed to submit a delegation request to the Ministry of Municipal 

Affairs and Housing to advocate for change in the Ontario Building Code to require 

220 amp panels be the standard for new construction. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

The Chief Administrative Officer informed the Committee that she and the Warden were 

meeting with the Minister of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs as part of the Western 

Ontario Wardens Caucus regarding Bill 97 later in the day. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 3:49 p.m. 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 3 



       

 

     

   

 

  

 

   

  

  

NEXT MEETING: Thursday, June 22, 2023 

Edelbrock Centre, Dufferin Room, 30 Centre St, Orangeville 

Respectfully submitted, 

............................................................... 

Councillor Janet Horner, Chair 

Community Development and Tourism Committee 

Community Development & Tourism Committee Minutes – May 25, 2023 

Page 4 



 

 

   

  

 

     
    

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

   
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

   
 

 

  
 

  

 
 
 
 

 
 

The Corporation of 

THE TOWNSHIP OF MELANCTHON 

157101 Highway 10, Melancthon, Ontario, L9V 2E6 

Telephone - (519) 925-5525 Website: www.melancthontownship.ca 
Fax No. - (519) 925-1110 Email: info@melancthontownship.ca 

May 23, 2023 

To: County of Dufferin 
Town of Grand Valley 
Town of Mono 
Town of Orangeville 
Town of Shelburne 
Township of Amaranth 
Township of East Garafraxa 
Township of Mulmur 

Dear Sirs/Madams: 

Re: Fire Prevention and Protection Services 

At the meeting of Council held on May 18, 2023, the following motion was introduced 
and passed: 

Moved by White, Seconded by Moore 

Be it resolved that: “Whereas municipalities are required to provide appropriate, 
sustainable fire prevention and protection services to its residents; 

And Whereas municipalities within Dufferin County rely on fire prevention and 
protection services from multiple fire services with varying service levels; 

And Whereas avenues for potential collaboration between fire departments and other 
emergency first responders have not been studied or identified to the eight local tier 
municipalities; 

. . .2 

http://www.melancthontownship.ca/
mailto:dholmes@melancthontownship.ca


 
 

  
 
 

 

 
   

 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
   
  
   

- 2 -

Therefore be it resolved that Melancthon Township Council request the County of 
Dufferin engage subject matter experts and support a study on fire prevention and 
protection services in Dufferin County, and supply a report that details options and 
recommendations for the appropriate provision of fire prevention and protection 
services across Dufferin County. And further that funds for the study be taken from 
the County of Dufferin’s emergency management preparedness reserve. 

And further that this motion be forwarded to all Dufferin County municipalities, as well 
as Dufferin County Council for support, and all local tier Fire Department Boards of 
Management and Advisory Boards for information.” Carried. 

Yours truly, 

Denise B. Holmes, AMCT 
CAO/Clerk 

c. Grand Valley and District Fire Board of Management 
Mulmur Melancthon Fire Board of Management 
Orangeville Fire Service Advisory Committee 
Shelburne and District Fire Board of Management 
Rosemont District Fire Board of Management 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-30 

A BY-LAW TO AMEND BY-LAW 2015-41, FEES AND 
CHARGES FOR SERVICES AND ACTIVITIES PROVIDED BY 
THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN. (Schedule “C” – Public Works) 

WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25, S. 391 provides that municipalities may 
pass by-laws imposing fees or changes on any class of persons. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION 
OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the fees for the “Electric Vehicle Charing Stations” in Schedule “C” be 
removed and replaced with the following: 

Electric Vehicle Charging Stations
Electric vehicle charging – level-2
stations 

$2 per hour 

Electric vehicle charging – level-3
stations 

$10 per hour 

Electric vehicle charging – level-2
stations – once vehicle is fully charged 

$2 per hour 

Electric vehicle charging – level-3
stations – once vehicle is fully charged 

$5 per hour 

2. This by-law shall come into full force and effect on the day of its passing. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

                         
______________________________    ______________________________ 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-31 

A BY-LAW TO AMEND BY-LAW 2017-39, BEING A BY-
LAW TO GOVERN THE LANDS KNOWN AS THE 
DUFFERIN COUNTY FOREST AND RAIL TRAIL. 
(Amend Sections 3, 14, 20, 21, 25, & 27, Amend
Schedule A, Remove Schedule B) 

WHEREAS by Section 8 of the Municipal Act, 2001, S.O. 2001, c.25, the Council 
of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin has the capacity, rights, powers 
and privileges of a natural person for the purpose of exercising its authority 
under this or any other Act; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the Exceptions Section of the By-Law be moved to immediately follow 
the Definitions and be amended to read: 
This by-law shall not apply to an employee of the Corporation of the 
County of Dufferin while acting in the course of their employment in 
managing the Dufferin County Forest or the Dufferin Rail Trail, or any part 
thereof, or any person authorized by an employee of the Corporation of 
the County of Dufferin to carry out any duty relating to the management 
of the Dufferin County Forest or the Dufferin Rail Trail, or any part thereof. 

2. That Section 14 Dogs be removed and replaced with: 
No person shall permit a dog to run at large in the Dufferin County Forest. 

3. That Section 20 Permit Required be removed and replaced with:
No person shall hunt in the Dufferin County Forest unless they are a member 
of a recognized organization that provides a minimum of $5 million liability
insurance for its members while they are engaged in hunting activities. 

No person shall hunt in the Dufferin County Forest unless they obtain a 
Forest User Permit (Hunting) from the County that will be valid from the 
date of issue or October 1, whichever is later, until the following May 31. 

4. That Section 21 Tree stands and Blinds be removed and replaced as 
follows: 



 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

No person shall place a permanent tree stand or blind in the Dufferin 
County Forest with the use of hardware.
No person shall leave a temporary tree stand or blind in the Dufferin 
County Forest from June 1 to September 30. 

5. That Section 25 Parking be removed and replaced with: 
Motor Vehicles 
No person shall enter the Dufferin Rail Trail or any part thereof for the 
purpose of bringing onto the Rail Trail any motor vehicle for the purpose 
of operating said motor vehicle on the Dufferin Rail Trail with the following 
exceptions: 

a. Parking: any person who enters the Dufferin Rail Trail or any part 
thereof for the purpose of bringing onto the Rail Trail any 
vehicle which is drawn or propelled by a motor or any means of 
power other than by muscular power, to park such vehicle in any 
area marked or designated for parking or; 

b. Motorized snow vehicles: any person who enters the Dufferin 
Rail Trail on a motorized snow vehicle and is in possession of a 
valid Ontario Federation of Snowmobile Clubs (O.F.S.C.) trail 
permit or; 

c. All-terrain vehicles: any person who enters the Dufferin Rail Trail 
on an all-terrain vehicle and who is in possession of a valid 
membership in the Dufferin Grey ATV Club or;  

d. Motorcycles: any person who enters the Dufferin Rail Trail on a 
motorcycle and who is in possession of a valid membership in 
the Dufferin Rooftop Recreational Riders or;  

e. Pedal-Assist Electric Bicycles: pedal-assist electric bicycles (Class 
1) are permitted. 

6. That Section 27 Dogs be removed and replaced with: 
No person shall permit a dog to run at large on the Dufferin Rail Trail. 

7. That Schedule A – Dufferin County Outdoor Recreation Plan, Section 1 of 
the Permitted/Prohibited Uses (Rail Trail) be removed and replaced with: 
Generally Accepted Uses 

 Unless otherwise restricted in this policy and associated by-law, 
generally accepted outdoor recreational activities are permitted 
on the Dufferin Rail Trail. 

 Motor vehicle operators must be members of an appropriate 
Club that has entered into a use agreement with the County. 

8. That Schedule B – Hunting Permit be removed. 



9. This by-law shall come into full force and effect on the day of its passing. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden     Michelle Dunne, Clerk 

 
 

 

 
 
 
             



 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
              

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-32 

A BY-LAW TO RATIFY THE ACTIONS OF THE WARDEN 
AND CLERK FOR EXECUTING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND 
ONTARIO HEALTH. (Multi-Service Sector Accountability 
Agreement) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY 
OF DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the agreement between the County of Dufferin and Ontario Health, in a 
form substantially the same as attached hereto as Schedule “A” be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions 
as are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are herby authorized to execute 
such documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to 
herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

Wade Mills, Warden      Michelle Dunne, Clerk 



































































































 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
             

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-33 

A BY-LAW TO AUTHORIZE WARDEN AND CLERK TO EXECUTE 
AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CORPORATION OF THE 
COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND GEORGIAN COLLEGE OF APPLIED 
ARTS & TECHNOLOGY. (Lease Agreement – Edelbrock Centre) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF 
DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the agreement between the County of Dufferin and Georgian College of Applied 
Arts and Technology, in a form substantially the same as attached hereto as Schedule
“A” be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions as 
are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are herby authorized to execute such 
documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

    Wade Mills, Warden Michelle Dunne, Clerk 



 

 
    

 

         

 

      

  

 

     

  

       

   

      

     

  

 

    

  

  

  

   

       

          

      

For a full copy of the lease, contact the Clerk's department 
1 

Lease Agreement No. MLC49003 
11 

THIS LEASE made the 1st day of April 2023. 

BETWEEN: 

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

(the “Landlord”) 

AND 

THE GEORGIAN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS & TECHNOLOGY 

(the “Tenant”) 

ARTICLE 1 - BASIC TERMS AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Basic Terms 

(a) Landlord: Corporation of the County of Dufferin 

Address: 30 Centre Street, Orangeville, ON 

(b) Tenant: Georgian College of Applied Arts & 

Technology 

Address: One Georgian Drive 

Barrie ON L4M 3X9 

(c) Indemnifier: Not Applicable 

(d) Building: W & M Edelbrock Centre 

30 Centre Street, Orangeville 

(e) Premises: Suite # as described in Section 1.2 (l) 

(f) Rentable Area of Premises: 4645 square feet, subject to Section 2.2 

(g) Term: Five (5) years subject to Section 2.3 

LEGAL*53425228.1 



 

 

    

       

     

      

 
  

 
    

  
      

 
       

  
       

 
       

 
       

      

  

   

   

       

      

   

   

    

2 
Lease Agreement No. MLC49003 

Commencement Date: April 1, 2023, subject to Section 2.4 

End of Term: March 31, 2028, subject to Sections 2.3, 2.4 and 12.13 

(h) Basic Gross Rent (Section 3.2): $18.82 (+3% annual increase) 

Period 
Per Sq. 

Ft/year 
Per year Per Month 

April 1, 2023 to March 31, 2024 
$18.82 $87,418.90+ HST $7,284.91 + HST 

April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 
$19.38 $90,020.10 + HST $7,501.68 + HST 

April 1, 2025 to March 31, 2026 
$19.96 $92,714.20 + HST $7,726.18 + HST 

April 1, 2026 to March 31, 2027 
$20.56 $95,501.20 + HST $7,958.43 + HST 

April 1, 2027 to March 31, 2028 
$21.18 $98,381.10 + HST $8,198.43 + HST 

(i) Permitted Use: Administrative and business offices of Tenant 

(j) Deposit: Not applicable 

(k) Rent Deposit: Not applicable 

(l) Security Deposit: Not applicable 

(m) Lease Year: Lease Year ends on March 31st 

Schedules forming part of this Lease: 

i. Schedule “A” Legal Description 

ii. Schedule “B” Floor Plan 

iii. Schedule “C” Rules and Regulations 

LEGAL*53425228.1 



 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
             

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-34 

A BY-LAW TO AUTHORIZE WARDEN AND CLERK TO EXECUTE 
AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CORPORATION OF THE 
COUNTY OF DUFFERIN AND GEORGIAN COLLEGE OF APPLIED 
ARTS & TECHNOLOGY. (Lease Agreement – Mel Lloyd Centre) 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF 
DUFFERIN AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the agreement between the County of Dufferin and Georgian College of Applied 
Arts and Technology, in a form substantially the same as attached hereto as Schedule
“A” be approved. 

2. That the staff of the County of Dufferin is hereby authorized to take such actions as 
are appropriate, and the Warden and Clerk are herby authorized to execute such 
documents as are appropriate to implement the agreement referred to herein. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

    Wade Mills, Warden Michelle Dunne, Clerk 



 

 
    

 

         

 

      

  

 

   

  

       

   

      

      

  

 

   

  

 

      

  

      

       

 

         

      

For a full copy of the lease, contact the Clerk's department 
1 

Lease Agreement No. MLC49003 
11 

THIS LEASE made the ______ day of _____ 2023. 

BETWEEN: 

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

(the “Landlord”) 

AND 

GEORGIAN COLLEGE OF APPLIED ARTS & TECHNOLOGY 

(the “Tenant”) 

ARTICLE 1 - BASIC TERMS AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1 Basic Terms 

(a) Landlord: Corporation of the County of Dufferin 

Address: 55 Zina Street, Orangeville, ON 

(b) Tenant: 

Address: 

Georgian College of Applied Arts & 

Technology 

One Georgian Drive, 

Barrie, ON  L4M 3X9 

(c) Indemnifier: Not applicable 

(d) Building: Mel Lloyd Centre, 167 Centre Street, 

Shelburne, ON 

(e) Premises: Located within or near Dufferin Employment 

Resource Centre as described in Section 1.2 

(m) 

(f) Rentable Area of Premises: 100 square feet, subject to Section 2.2 

(g) Term: One year subject to Section 2.3 

LEGAL*53425228.1 



 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

       

 
            

 

       

 
 

 
  

 
    

      

 
    

 

           

      

       

     

             

      

     

     

     

2 
Lease Agreement No. MLC49003 

Commencement Date: April 1, 2023, subject to Section 2.4 

End of Term: March 31, 2024, subject to Sections 2.3, 2.4 and 12.13 

(h) Basic Gross Rent (Section 3.2): $18.27 

Period 
Per Sq. 

Ft/year 
Per year Per Month 

April 1, 2023 to March 31, 

2024 
$18.27 $1,827.00+HST $152.25 +HST 

(i) Permitted Use: Administrative and business offices of the Tenant 

(j) Deposit: Not applicable 

(k) Rent Deposit: Not applicable 

(l) Security Deposit: Not applicable 

(m) Lease Year: Lease Year ends on March 31 of each year 

Schedules forming part of this Lease: 

i. Schedule “A” Legal Description 

ii. Schedule “B” Floor Plan 

iii. Schedule “C” Rules and Regulations 

LEGAL*53425228.1 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

 
 
 

    

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN 

BY-LAW NUMBER 2023-xx 

A BY-LAW TO CONFIRM THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY 
OF DUFFERIN AT ITS MEETING HELD ON JUNE 8, 
2023. 

WHEREAS Section 5 (1) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, provides that the powers of 
a municipality shall be exercised by its Council; 

AND WHEREAS Section 5 (3) of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, provides that municipal 
powers shall be exercised by by-law; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE CORPORATION 
OF THE COUNTY OF DUFFERIN ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. All actions of the Council of the Corporation of the County of Dufferin at its 
meetings held on June 8, 2023 in respect to every report, motion, by-law, or other 
action passed and taken by the Council, including the exercise of natural person 
powers, are hereby adopted, ratified and confirmed as if each report, motion, 
resolution or other action was adopted, ratified and confirmed by its separate by-
law. 

2. The Warden of the Council and the proper officers of the Corporation of the County
of Dufferin are hereby authorized and directed to do all things necessary to give 
effect to the said action, to obtain approvals where required and except where 
otherwise provided, to execute all documents necessary in that behalf. 

READ a first, second and third time and finally passed this 8th day of June, 2023. 

_________________________________ _________________________________ 
Wade Mills, Warden   Michelle Dunne, Clerk 


	Item #4 - 2023-05-11 Council Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #5.4 - StrategyCorp - Draft Strategic Plan
	Return to Agenda
	Item #5.5 - BDO Canada LLP - 2022 Financial Statements
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.1 - 2023-05-25 Infrastructure and Environmental Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.2 - 2023-05-25 General Government Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.3 - 2023-05-25 Health and Human Services Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #7.4 - 2023-05-25 Community Development and Tourism Minutes
	Return to Agenda
	Item #8.1 - Township of Melancthon
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law #2023-30 Amend By-Law 2015-41 Fees and Charges for Services and Activites
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law #2023-31 Amend By-Law 2017-39 By-Law to Govern the County Forest & Rail Trail
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law #2023-32 Ontario Health (Multi-Sector Service Accountability Agreement)
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law #2023-33 Georgian College of Applied Arts & Technology Agreement (Lease - Edelbrock Centre)
	Return to Agenda
	Item #12 - By-Law #2023-34 Georgian College of Applied Arts & Technology Agreement (Mel Lloyd Centre)
	Return to Agenda
	Item #14 - By-Law 2023-xx Confirmatory By-Law - June 8, 2023
	Return to Agenda



